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CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Guyana submits this Reply pursuant to the Rules of Procedure adopted by the Arbitral
Tribunal on 30 July 2004. Article 9(1) provided that Guyana would submit its Reply by 1
March 2006. This date was subsequently changed to 1 April 2006, as confirmed by the
Tribunal in its letter of 1 March 2006.

1.2 This Reply responds to the Counter-Memorial filed by Suriname dated 1 November
2005. It also responds to points raised in Suriname’s Preliminary Objections to jurisdiction
and admissibility in its Memorandum dated 23 May 2005, which the Arbitral Tribunal
decided were to be addressed in the merits phase of the proceedings by Order dated 18 July
2005. The Reply addresses the issues that divide the Parties in light of the arguments put
forward by Suriname in its written pleadings and does not merely repeat the arguments made
by Guyana in its Memorial. For the avoidance of doubt, in respect of any matter not
addressed in the Reply Guyana maintains the arguments set forth in its Memorial.

1.3 In its Application and Memorial Guyana has put forward submissions in respect of
three distinct claims. Guyana’s first claim is directed to the delimitation of the maritime
boundaries between the two States. It submits that the Arbitral Tribunal should adjudge and
declare that “from the point known as Point 61 (5° 59° 53.8” north and longitude 57° 08’
51.5” west), the single maritime boundary which divides the territorial seas and maritime
jurisdictions of Guyana and Suriname follows a line of 34° east of true north for a distance of
200 nautical miles.”’ In respect of the territorial sea, this submission is based on the
application of Article 15 of the 1982 Convention which mandates the use of an equidistance
line in the absence of any special circumstances (neither Party has made any claim in respect
of historic title). In respect of the delimitation of the continental shelves and exclusive
economic zones of the two States, Guyana’s claim is based squarely on the application of
Articles 74 and 83 of the 1982 Convention which mandate the achievement of an equitable
solution.

1.4  Guyana’s second claim is that Suriname is internationally responsible for violating its
obligations under the 1982 Convention, the UN Charter and general international law by
using armed force in maritime areas of which Guyana has sovereignty or exercises
jurisdiction and that it is liable to make reparation for these violations.” Guyana’s third claim
is that Suriname is internationally responsible for violating its obligations under the 1982
Convention to make every effort to enter into provisional arrangements of a practical nature
pending agreement on the delimitation of the continental shelves and exclusive economic
zones of Guyana and Suriname, and that it is liable to make reparation for these violations.?

! Memorial of Guyana [hereinafter “MG™], p. 135, para. 1.
2 Ibid., p. 135, Submission 2.
3 Ibid., p. 135, Submission 3.
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I. General Observations on Suriname’s Approach

1.5 Before proceeding further, Guyana first observes the tone that is adopted by Suriname
at various points in its written pleading. On numerous occasions, Suriname asserts that
Guyana’s claims or arguments are not made in good faith;* it accuses Guyana of acting
perversely;’ it refers to “slippery and misleading statements in Guyana’s Memorial™® and to
Guyana’s “gross misrepresentation of the facts;”’ and it accuses Guyana of “deliberate
misrepresentations.” Guyana respectfully submits that these and other unfriendly remarks
are unfounded and inappropriate to the dignity that characterises inter-State proceedings such
as these, particularly where they involve two friendly neighbouring countries. The remarks
are noted but shall not be responded to. Guyana expresses the hope that the conduct of these
proceedings can be mutually respectful whatever differences may exist between the Parties
on issues of fact and law.

1.6 Guyana’s second general observation concerns the decision by Suriname not to make
any use of materials that are held in the restricted archives of the Dutch Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and to impede access to these documents by Guyana and the Tribunal. Guyana first
sought access to the Dutch archives in August 2004. At Suriname’s objection, the
Netherlands refused to allow Guyana to review them. In February 2005, Guyana asked the
Tribunal to order Suriname to withdraw its objection so that the Netherlands would permit
Guyana to access the archives on the same basis as Suriname. Suriname responded by
vigourously resisting disclosure of any of the Dutch documents to Guyana or the Tribunal. It
was not until a year later, on 22 February 2006 -- after oral hearings in The Hague, four
separate Orders from the Tribunal and the report of the Independent Expert appointed by the
Tribunal -- that the first set of these documents was finally disclosed to Guyana. In the brief
time Guyana has had to review them, it is readily apparent why Suriname fought to keep
them hidden. They thoroughly undermine Suriname’s case, including the principal
arguments on which the Counter-Memorial is based. The newly-available documents
confirm inter alia that:

(1) The geographical circumstances do not support Suriname’s argument for a
deviation from the provisional equidistance line in its favour. To the contrary, the
Netherlands itself regarded Suriname’s coastline as “regular,” and rejected the idea
that the relevant portion of it -- between the Corentyne and Coppename Rivers --
was “concave” as Suriname argues.’ Rather, the Dutch considered that this part of

* Suriname Counter-Memorial [hereinafter “SCM?”], p. 4, paras. 1.15-1.16.
> Ibid., p. 13, para. 2.25

8 Ibid., p. 90, para. 5.81.

7 Ibid., p. 67, para. 5.10.

¥ Ibid., pp. 83-84, para. 5.57.

? Letter from the Government Council of Surinam to the Governor of Surinam (13 February 1953) (original in
Dutch, translation provided by Guyana) [hereinafter “Letter to the Governor of Suriname (13 February 1953)”].
See Reply of Guyana [hereinafter “RG”], Vol. I, Annex R28.
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the coastline “flows in a direction of approximately 180° West between the
Coppename and the Corantine,” i.e., that it is relatively straight.'® Thus, the Dutch
emphasised that “Suriname cannot even appeal to the circumstance, as can Germany
[in the North Sea Continental Shelf Cases] that the configuration of the coast makes
the equidistance line ‘disadvantageous.”"!

(2) There are no “special circumstances” under applicable international law that
would justify a deviation from the equidistance line in Suriname’s favour. The
Dutch specifically concluded, and advised Suriname, that the so-called “navigation
channel” that Suriname invokes in these proceedings in support of its 10° claim is
not in law a “special circumstance.”">

(3) The Netherlands never accepted -- indeed, it rejected -- Suriname’s claim to a
10° boundary line in the continental shelf. The Netherlands regarded itself as
having reached agreement with the United Kingdom, in accordance with
international law, that the boundary would be determined by application of
equidistance principles,”> which it considered “acceptable” and “desirable.”'® In
preparation for the 1966 Marlborough House talks between Suriname and Guyana,
the Netherlands Foreign Minister “emphatically pointed out” to Suriname’s Prime
Minister that Suriname “must not deviate from the equidistance principle for the
delimitation of the continental shelf.””> Internally, the Dutch Foreign Ministry
referred to the “weakness, not to say the impossibility” of Suriname’s boundary
claim, which it considered “exaggerated and unrealistic.”'® Following the
Marlborough House talks, at which Suriname ignored the Foreign Minister’s
message, the Dutch again resolved to “expressly instruct” Suriname that an
equidistance boundary was the only one that could be justified by law."”

1 1bid.

'! Memorandum from Legal Affairs to Minister regarding Delimitation of the Continental Shelf (27 June 1966)
(original in Dutch, translation provided by Guyana) (emphasis in original). See RG, Vol. II, Annex R39.

2 Memorandum from Legal Affairs to Director, Western Hemisphere, on Draft Memoranda to Georgetown and
Paris Regarding Border Issues (18 October 1966) (original in Dutch, translation provided by Guyana). See RG,
Vol. II, Annex R40.

¥ Memorandum to Director, Western Hemisphere, Regarding the Borders between Surinam and British Guyana
and Surinam and French Guyana (11 March 1964) (original in Dutch, translation provided by Guyana)
[hereinafter “Memorandum regarding the Borders between Surinam and British Guyana and Surinam and
French Guyana (11 March 1964)”]. See RG, Vol. II, Annex R33.

4 dide Memoire from the Netherlands to the United Kingdom (6 August 1958). See MG, Vol. II, Annex 66.

!5 Memorandum on Surinam — British Guyana Boundary (31 March 1966) (original in Dutch, translation
provided by Guyana) [hereinafter “Memorandum on Surinam — British Guyana Boundary (31 March 1966)”].
See RG, Vol. II, Annex R38.

' Memorandum from Mr. E.O. Baron van Boetzelaer on Border Arrangement Suriname/British Guyana (19
November 1965) (original in Dutch, translation provided by Guyana) [hereafter “Memorandum from Mr. E.O.
Baron van Boetzelaer on Border arrangement Surinam/British Guyana (19 November 1965).”] See RG, Vol. I,
Annex R37.

'7 Memorandum from Legal Affairs to Minister regarding Delimitation of the Continental Shelf (27 June 1966),
supra Chapter 1, note 11.
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(4) Suriname, the Netherlands and France reached agreement that the maritime
boundary between Suriname and French Guiana should be based on equidistance.
An agreement in principle was reached on a boundary line along an azimuth of
N30E, which Suriname considered a straight-line or simplified version of the
equidistance line.'®

Guyana and the Tribunal need no longer speculate on the reasons Suriname sought to
withhold these materials. The documents speak for themselves.

1.7  Guyana’s third observation is that Suriname seeks to downplay the historical
significance of the conduct of the Parties, including in particular the negotiations and
communications that occurred between the United Kingdom and the Netherlands in the 1950s
and 1960s."” The same point may be made regarding Suriname’s efforts to downplay the
conduct of the Parties in granting oil concessions, and in other actions that have respected the
historical equidistance line of N34E. No doubt this is motivated in part by the reality that
history confirms the agreement of the former colonial powers as to the existence of an agreed
land boundary terminus at Point 61 and the propriety of using an equidistance line to delimit
the maritime boundary. In the absence of any evidence to the contrary -- and in particular the
fact that no contradictory material has been provided by Suriname from the restricted Dutch
archive -- Guyana considers that its historical account is essentially unchallenged.

1.8  Guyana’s fourth observation is closely connected to the previous two: by the time of
drafting this Reply Guyana had been given very late access to the relevant documents in the
Dutch archives. As a result, it has been placed in a situation of considerable disadvantage in
preparing this pleading. Suriname has had full access to the documents but has chosen not to
allow them to be made available to the Tribunal or to Guyana in a timely manner. Given the
late arrival of these documents, the time required to translate them from Dutch to English,
and the very limited time Guyana has had to review them for this Reply, Guyana reserves its
right to present to the Tribunal at the oral hearings additional documents from among those it
has only recently obtained but has not had adequate time to review in detail prior to the
submission of this pleading.

1.9 A fifth observation concerns Suriname’s use of geography and cartography. As a
result of its dependence on strained and unlikely geographical arguments -- historically
rejected by the Dutch -- Suriname has prepared and then sought to utilise maps that tend to
create incorrect impressions of the geographical circumstances which do not treat the relevant
coastlines or geographic features of the two States in an equivalent manner. For example, the
map prepared by Suriname for these proceedings (used infer alia as Counter-Memorial
Figures 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35) gives the impression that Suriname has a
much longer coastline than Guyana, whereas the opposite is true. Indeed, Volume I of
Suriname’s Counter-Memorial is striking for the way in which it fails to provide even a
single map that shows the full territory and coastline of Guyana, or a single map that shows
the broader geographic context in which this dispute arises. From Suriname’s maps, the
reader of the Counter-Memorial would not be aware that Guyana’s coastline is longer than

'8 Short report of the discussions held on 2, 16 and 23 April 1964 at the Department of Foreign Affairs about a
proclamation relating to the continental shelf of Surinam (April 1964) (original in Dutch, translation provided
by Guyana). See RG, Vol. II, Annex R36.

1 See e.g., SCM, p. 37, para. 3.61; p. 63, para. 5.2.
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that of Suriname (482 and 384 km, respectively). The impression created is misleading. This
is most apparent with Suriname’s Figure 30 which purports to show “The Relevant
Geographic Circumstances in this Case.”™ By providing a closed frame of reference that
cuts off a large part of Guyana’s coastline and fails to represent the general directions of the
two coastlines the representation is artificial, amounting to a “refashioning of geography” in a
manner that international courts and tribunals have declared impermissible. The intended
effect may be seen by comparing Suriname’s standard map with that used by Guyana,
including, for example, Plates 9 and 39 in Guyana’s Memorial.”' This approach is even more
greatly exaggerated at Suriname’s Figures 11 to 26, which suggest that Guyana’s coastline
(and the areas in which it has granted oil concessions) are considerably less extensive than
those of Suriname.”> As described in more detail in Chapter 3 of this Reply, other significant
deficiencies include the erroneous descriptions of the configurations and lengths of the
relevant coastlines,” the use of arbitrary and inaccurate lines to represent the relevant
coastlines resulting in the invocation of alleged perpendiculars and angles that have no
relation to geographic reality,”* and the use of maps including segments of coastline that have
no entitlement to being included as part of the relevant coastline for the equidistance
determination.” Guyana invites the Tribunal to treat Suriname’s maps with considerable
caution.

1.10  Relatedly, Suriname has utilised an official chart -- NL 2218 -- that was produced by
the Suriname Maritime Agency in June 2005 after these proceedings were commenced (and
after Guyana’s Memorial was submitted.)*® Relying on this chart, Suriname has identified an
additional basepoint (basepoint S14, located at Suriname’s Vissers Bank)?’ that was not
relied upon by Guyana. The use of this basepoint at Vissers Bank does not alter the plotting
of the provisional equidistance line but does have the effect of extending the length of
Suriname’s relevant coastline by approximately 42 kilometres. Guyana does not accept the
accuracy of the map. The geographical feature that allegedly justifies Suriname’s additional
basepoint does not appear on any of the predecessors to Chart NL 2218, or on any other
chart. In addition, Guyana has obtained satellite imagery of the area in question that does not
show the existence of the alleged feature.”® Guyana challenges the accuracy of Chart NL
2218 and submits that it should not be relied upon by the Tribunal in these proceedings for
any purposes, as set forth in Chapter 3 of this Reply.”

2 1bid., Chapter 6, Figure 30 (following p. 94).

2 MG, Chapter 4, Plate 9 (following p. 38); Plate 39 (following p. 108).

2SCM, Chapter 5, Figures 11-18 (following p. 70); Figures 19-26 (following p. 76).
3 See infra Chapter 3, paras. 3.10-3.24.

# See infra Chapter 3, para. 3.33.

3 See infra Chapter 3, paras 3.19-3.24.

*SCM, Vol. III, Annex 68.

7 Ibid., Annex 69.

% Thomas D. Rabenhorst, Analysis of Recent Shoreline Revisions to the 2005 Edition of Dutch Nautical Chart
NL 2218 (March 2006). See RG, Vol. II, Annex R2.

¥ See infra paras. 3.19-3.20.



Reply of Guyana

II. Issues for the Tribunal
A. Points of Agreement

1.11  The Tribunal is charged with resolving the dispute between Guyana and Suriname
concerning the application of the 1982 Convention.*® In carrying out that task, the conclusion
of the first round of written pleadings indicates that a number of significant points of
agreement exist between the Parties.

1.12  First, the Parties are in agreement that the applicable law is to be found in the 1982
Convention and that its relevant provisions reflect customary international law.’’ This
agreement relates both to the jurisdictional issues raised by Suriname and to the merits of the
dispute. These points may seem obvious but they are significant in situating the dispute
squarely within the parameters of the 1982 Convention which directs the Tribunal to apply
the Convention and other rules of international law that are not incompatible with it.** It
follows that specific provisions of the Convention are relevant to these proceedings, and in
particular Articles 15, 74 and 83 as regards the merits. It is principally on the interpretation
and application of these provisions that the Parties are divided.

1.13  Second -- and relatedly -- the Parties are also in broad agreement on the content of the
law applicable to the merits of the delimitation issues (the significance of these points of
concurrence is further elaborated in Chapter 5), even if there are material differences as to the
application of that law to the facts. They agree, for example, that in interpreting and applying
the provisions of the 1982 Convention, it is appropriate to have regard to the jurisprudence of
international courts and tribunals. They agree also that the caselaw of the International Court
of Justice is of considerable authority.™ 1In this way, the Tribunal is not being asked to come
entirely afresh to these issues of law.

1.14  Third, the Parties agree that the Arbitral Tribunal’s task is to delimit a single maritime
boundary up to a limit of 200 nautical miles from the baseline.**

1.15 Fourth, both Parties accept the approach adopted by the International Court to the
delimitation of maritime spaces, and in particular, the propriety of an approach that directs
the delimitation first of the territorial sea and then of the continental shelf and exclusive
economic zone, and that each is to be carried out in two steps:

3% United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, opened for signature Dec. 10, 1982, [hereinafter “1982
Convention™], art. 286, 833 U.N.T.S. 397, 21 L.L.M. 1245, 1324 (1982).

*I MG, pp. 77-78, paras. 7.3-7.4; see SCM, pp. 38-39, paras. 41-43.
321982 Convention, art. 293.

3 MG, p. 86, para. 2.28; SCM, p. 39, para. 4.4.

*MG, p. 107, para. 9.1; SCM, p. 6, paras. 2.2-2.4.
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e First, the Arbitral Tribunal must identify and draw a provisional equidistance line;
and

e Second, the Arbitral Tribunal may take into account special circumstances that
could justify a shift in that line™ (having regard, of course, to the distinct
requirements of Article 15, on the one hand, and Articles 74 and 83, on the other).

1.16  Fifth, and perhaps most strikingly, the Parties are in general agreement on the location
of the provisional equidistance line. Plate R8 (in Volume III only) shows Suriname’s
provisional equidistance line superimposed on that of Guyana. The Tribunal will recognise
that there is no material difference.

1.17  And sixth, the Parties agree that geological and geophysical circumstances are of no
relevance to this case. The position now adopted by Suriname marks a significant change
from that adopted at the Marlborough House talks in 1966. The minutes of that meeting
record that Suriname’s view was that geological factors (in particular, the direction of the
“valley of the [Corentyne] river”) were relevant.’® In its Counter-Memorial, however,
Suriname ‘“‘agrees with Guyana’s statement that geological factors are of no material
relevance for this case.”’ The Tribunal can therefore proceed on the basis that geological
and geophysical factors can be put to one side in delimiting the maritime boundaries.

B. Points of Disagreement

1.18 It is within these broad parameters that the Tribunal is called upon to resolve the
dispute between the Parties. Guyana submits that there are a number of discrete but related
issues which are of particular significance. Although not exhaustive, the Tribunal’s
conclusions on these points will go a considerable way in directing it towards particular
conclusions.

1.19  On the issue of its jurisdiction, one issue concerns whether or not the Tribunal should
determine that Guyana and Suriname are bound under international law to treat Point 61
(which Suriname refers to as the “1936 Point”) as the starting point for the delimitation of the
maritime boundary. Guyana submits that as a matter of substance the Parties are in
agreement on this point and that the Tribunal should so declare. Guyana’s arguments are set
out in detail in Chapter 2 of this Reply. At this stage, it suffices to note that since
independence Suriname has treated Point 61 as the starting point for its maritime claim. The
facts also show that even before that the United Kingdom and the Netherlands had
consistently treated Point 61 as their starting point. Seventy years of consistent practise is, in
Guyana’s view, factually dispositive and legally irresistible. Lest there be any doubt, the
Tribunal will have noted that the Parties’ submissions reflect perfect agreement that if the

3 MG, p. 88, para. 7.32; SCM, p. 42, para. 4.13.

3% Minutes of a Meeting Held at Marlborough House (at. p. 11), London, England (23 June 1966) [hereinafter
“Marlborough House Minutes”]. See RG, Vol. II, Annex R12.

37 MG, p. 89, para. 7.35; SCM, p. 7, para. 2.6
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Tribunal is to engage in a delimitation then it should start at Point 61.® With these
concordant submissions it is not tenable to claim that there exists anything other than perfect
agreement between the Parties as to the location of the starting point for the maritime
delimitation.

1.20 It is noteworthy that Suriname is in agreement with this approach so long as it is
agreed that Point 61 and the 10° line were identified “in a combined operation.”” Suriname
in effect argues that the Tribunal has jurisdiction to delimit the boundary along a 10° line but
no jurisdiction to delimit the maritime boundary according to any other line or lines. The
merit of this approach speaks for itself. In any event, Guyana submits that the evidence
before the Tribunal is clear: the Boundary Commissioners and then the British and Dutch
governments first decided to fix the land boundary terminus at Point 61, and only thereafter
turned to address the question of the direction of the maritime boundary. Guyana submits
that the facts also establish that:

(1) the 10° line was solely to deal with possibility that a navigation channel might
come into use along the western channel of the Corentyne River and for the purpose
of easing the administration of such future navigation (it was not based on any
actual navigational use);

(2) it was understood that circumstances could change allowing another direction to
be selected without revisiting the identification of Point 61;

(3) the 10° line was only up to the outer limit of the territorial sea then pertaining,
and that this did not exceed 3 nm;

(4) British and Dutch agreement on the 10° line dissolved based on the non-use of
the potential navigation channel, so that by the early 1960s the British moved to
identify an equidistance line in accordance with the requirements of evolving
international law; and

(5) thereafter the British and Dutch and then Guyana and Suriname continued to
treat Point 61 as the starting point for their respective claims and their oil
concessions.

1.21 These are essentially issues of fact to be decided by the Tribunal on the basis of the
evidence before it. That evidence shows that Suriname’s jurisdictional argument has no
merit. Even if it did, it would still not denude the Tribunal of jurisdiction, which would be
established by reference to the subsidiary or alternative means that Guyana has identified in
Chapter 2.* That too appears to be recognised by Suriname. It has provided a notably
modest effort in its Counter-Memorial at responding to the arguments raised by Guyana at the
oral hearing in July 2005. *!

38 See Guyana Submission 1 (MG, p. 135) and Suriname Submission 2B (SCM, p. 125).
3 SCM, pp. 57-58, para. 4.56.
0 See infira Chapter 2, paras. 2.37-2.46.

*! See, e.g., Uncorrected Transcript of Hearing on Need for a Hearing on Suriname’s Preliminary Objections, p.
31, line 37 to p. 37, line 15 (Day Two; Friday, 8 July 2005).
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1.22  On the merits of the dispute as to the maritime delimitation the Tribunal has three
essential tasks in applying Articles 15, 74 and 83 of the 1982 Convention:

(1) to identify with precision the location of the provisional equidistance line;

(2) to decide whether there are any special geographical circumstances that justify
any shift in that equidistance line to achieve an equitable solution; and

(3) to decide whether historical special circumstances or the conduct of the Parties
justify a shift in that equidistance line to achieve an equitable solution.

1.23  As regards the establishment of a provisional equidistance line, it is significant that
Guyana and Suriname are in agreement as to where it is located. A comparison of Suriname
Figure 31 and Guyana Plate 41 is set out at Plate R8 (in Volume III only). This indicates
agreement (subject to minor differences only in the territorial sea). It also indicates that in
the area up to the 200 metre isobath the provisional equidistance lines of both Guyana and
Suriname closely track the 34° historical equidistance line. Even on Suriname’s own
approach, it is self- evident that the 10° line is entirely unrelated to a provisional equidistance
line.

1.24  As regards the existence of any special geographic circumstances, the Parties are
divided. Guyana submits that the geography in the area is generally unremarkable. As the
newly available documents from the restricted Dutch archive make clear, this was also the
view of the Dutch government.*> Moreover, to the extent that geographic circumstances
justify any shift in the provisional equidistance line, it is in favour of Guyana. The
geographic reality is that there is a general, modest concavity along all of Guyana’s relevant
coastline that continues across Point 61 well into Suriname until the convex protrusion
located at Hermina Bank. This last anomaly controls almost the entire length of the
provisional equidistance line from around 100 nm to the 200 nm limit, and pushes the line
sharply to the north to Guyana’s prejudice. The geographic circumstances justify a shift in
the provisional equidistance line toward the 34° historical equidistance line first identified
and employed by the United Kingdom in the 1950s. The historical equidistance line has
served as the basis for Guyana’s maritime boundary claim ever since independence and its
adoption would provide an equitable solution.

1.25 As described in further detail in Chapter 3, Guyana strongly disputes Suriname’s
claims as to the relative shapes and lengths of the coastlines of the two States. The
geography of the area in question demonstrates that:

(1) there are no configurations along the coastlines that have material effects on the
provisional equidistance line, except the protrusion at Hermina Bank in Suriname;

(2) the shape of the relevant coastline as a whole is generally concave and neutral to
both Parties until it reaches Hermina Bank, where it becomes convex (to Guyana’s
prejudice);

#2 Letter to the Governor of Suriname (13 February 1953), supra Chapter 1, note 9.
9
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(3) Guyana’s total coastline and relevant coastline are materially longer than those
of Suriname, not shorter as Suriname claims;

(4) the maritime area appurtenant to Guyana’s relevant coastline is larger than the
one appurtenant to Suriname’s relevant coastline, not smaller as Suriname claims;

(5) the maritime area relevant to delimitation of the Guyana/Suriname boundary is
divided equitably between the two Parties by the 34° historical equidistance line;
and

(6) the relevant maritime area is not divided equitably by Suriname’s proposed 10°
line.

Guyana’s submissions on these points are supported by a report commissioned from an
independent expert, Dr. Robert W. Smith, a geographer for the United States government for
the past 30 years and the author or editor of numerous publications on coastal geography and
maritime delimitation.*

1.26  Each of these are issues on which the Tribunal is called upon to make findings of fact.
In the circumstances, Guyana submits that it is simply not tenable for Suriname to claim that
the provisional equidistance line is inequitable to Suriname’s interests. The provisional
equidistance line favours Suriname; its adoption would give rise to an inequitable result for
Guyana having regard to the geographic circumstances and the conduct of the Parties. A4
fortiori, Suriname’s 10° claim would be even more inequitable to Guyana. Geography and
conduct support a shift of the provisional equidistance line to the historical equidistance line
of N34E in order to achieve an equitable solution.

1.27  As regards the length of Guyana’s coast, Suriname ignores the Award of 3 October
1899 of the Arbitral Tribunal delimiting the land boundary between the Colony of British
Guiana and the United States of Venezuela.** In accordance with Article XIV of the 1897
Treaty of Arbitration, that award is a “full, perfect, and final settlement of all the questions
referred to the Arbitrators.” The award has not been set aside or vacated or replaced by any
other binding legal obligation. Guyana is entitled to rely on the Award and Suriname cannot
ignore it. Moreover, Suriname itself has recognised the binding effect of the award. At the
Conference of CARICOM Heads of Government in March 1999 held in Paramaribo,
Suriname joined with all other CARICOM governments in reiterating “their support for the
territorial integrity and sovereignty of Guyana.”*

“ Dr. Smith’s curriculum vitae is attached as Annex 1 to his report: Robert W. Smith, Independent Report on
the Guyana-Suriname Coastal Geography and the Impact on Maritime Boundary Delimitation (2006)
[hereinafter “Report of Robert W. Smith”]. See RG, Vol. II, Annex R1.

* Award of the Arbitral Tribunal under Article I of the Treaty of Arbitration signed at Washington on 2
February 1897 between Great Britain and the United States of Venezuela (3 October 1899). See RG, Vol. I,
Annex R21.

* Treaty of Arbitration signed at Washington on 2 February 1897 between Great Britain and the United States
of Venezuela, art. XIV. See RG, Vol. II, Annex R21.

* Communiqué Issued on the Conclusion of the Tenth Inter-Sessional Meeting of the Conference of the Heads
of Government of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) 4-5 March 1999, Paramaribo, Suriname. See RG,
Vol. II, Annex R16.
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1.28  As regards historical special circumstances and the conduct of the Parties, Guyana
and Suriname are very far apart. Suriname wishes to discount all reference to the conduct of
the Parties, including the historical conduct of the former colonial powers. It would prefer to
ignore history and conduct. This is reflected in the number of annexes included in the
Counter-Memorial. There are just seven historical documents drawn from the publicly
accessible national archives in The Hague, and none from any Surinamese archive. Six of the
documents date back to the 1930s and one dates to 1959. Suriname has chosen to exclude
any archival material from the period between June 1937 and March 1959, and there is no
archival material after 1959. This appears to be the first maritime delimitation on record in
which one of the parties seeks to airbrush history out of the proceedings. But history and
conduct are important. Guyana relies on history and conduct for the purpose of
demonstrating that the historical equidistance line identified by the United Kingdom from the
late 1950s is close to the modern provisional equidistance line up to the 200 metre isobath.
This also serves to demonstrate that the historical equidistance line is not inequitable. This is
reflected in the negotiations between the United Kingdom and the Netherlands in the 1950s
and 1960s in which both colonial powers agreed that a maritime boundary along an
equidistance line was “acceptable” and “desirable.” Guyana notes once again that Suriname
has not introduced any materials from the restricted Dutch archive to counter Guyana’s
reliance on the materials in the British archive and other Netherlands archives. There is
accordingly no evidence before the Tribunal that would indicate any historical material or
other material on conduct to support the view that the equidistance line identified by the
United Kingdom (along N34E) could be considered to produce an inequitable result. The oil
concessions granted by Guyana rely on that equidistance line and have also been generally
respected by Suriname. The totality of the conduct -- of the former colonial powers prior to
independence and of Guyana and Suriname after independence -- provides indicia of the
Parties’ views on what would constitute an equitable solution, independent of the views they
have expressed in the context of these arbitral proceedings. Guyana submits that the conduct
of the Parties indicates that the historical equidistance line results in an equitable delimitation
of their maritime boundaries.

1.29 The differences between the Parties are stark. Suriname invites the Tribunal to
refashion geography and to ignore history and conduct. Guyana invites the Tribunal to
respect geography, history and conduct. Guyana submits that it is the latter approach alone
that would lead to an equitable result, and that the latter approach alone would respect the
1982 Convention and established international jurisprudence.

11
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III. The Structure of Guyana’s Reply

1.30  Against the background of the factors identified above, Volume I of Guyana’s Reply
is organized as follows:

Chapter 2 shows that this Tribunal has jurisdiction to delimit the maritime boundary
between Guyana and Suriname and to address the other claims made by Guyana,
and that the arguments of Suriname that any aspect of these claims is inadmissible
are without foundation;

Chapter 3 addresses the pertinent issues of geography, and demonstrates that the
geographical factors that are to be taken into account in delimiting maritime
boundaries under Articles 15, 74 and 83 of the 1982 Convention are fully supportive
of Guyana’s claim and provide no assistance to Suriname’s contentions;

Chapter 4 similarly addresses the pertinent issues of history and the conduct of the
Parties and of their colonial predecessors, and demonstrates that the historical
factors that are to be taken into account in delimiting maritime boundaries under
Articles 15, 74 and 83 of the 1982 Convention are fully supportive of Guyana’s
claim and provide no assistance to Suriname’s contentions;

Chapter 5 addresses in general the law that is applicable to the dispute between the
Parties and explains why Suriname’s departure from established principles and
practise is unsustainable;

Chapter 6 responds to Suriname’s arguments concerning the delimitation of the
territorial sea and demonstrates why the principle of equidistance is applicable
under Article 15 of the 1982 Convention and that there exist no special
circumstances that are at variance with an equidistance line along an azimuth of
34°;

Chapter 7 responds to Suriname’s arguments concerning the delimitation of the
continental shelf and the exclusive economic zone and demonstrates why the
applicable principles under Articles 74 and 83 of the 1982 Convention confirm that
an equitable solution is achieved with a line of 34°;

Chapter 8 responds to Suriname’s arguments on its use of force ;

Chapter 9 responds to Suriname’s arguments concerning its failure to enter into
practical and provisional arrangements pending agreement on delimitation;

Chapter 10 sets out the Submissions of Guyana, which have been revised only to
take into account Suriname’s preliminary objections.

1.31 Volumes II and III of this Reply contain supporting materials. Volume II contains
annexes. Guyana has commissioned reports from three independent experts on geographic
issues. Dr. Robert W. Smith, former geographer for the United States Department of State,
has provided a report concerning the coastal geography of Guyana and Suriname and the
impact of the geography on the maritime boundary delimitation. Dr. Thomas D. Rabenhorst,
Director of Cartographic Instruction at the University of Maryland, has submitted a paper on

12
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the satellite imagery and cartography of Vissers Bank where Suriname purports to locate a
coastal basepoint (S14) on an alleged low-tide coast. And the Johns Hopkins Applied
Physics Laboratory has submitted its mathematical calculations of coastal lengths, sizes of
appurtenant maritime areas and divisions of the relevant maritime area produced by the
provisional equidistance line and the boundary lines claimed by the Parties. These three
independent reports are set out at Annexes R1 through R3. The rest of the Annexes are
arranged in the following order: Expert Reports; Governmental Documents (Guyana);
Governmental Documents (Suriname); Governmental Documents (other); Diplomatic
Documents; Treaties, Agreements and Awards; National Legislation (Guyana); Case Law;
Technical Data; and Documents from the Dutch Archives Produced by Order of the Tribunal.
Volume III contains a complete set of maps and illustrations.
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CHAPTER 2

JURISDICTION

2.1 Guyana presented its views on the Tribunal’s jurisdiction in Chapter 6 of the
Memorial. As stated therein, Article 288(1) of the 1982 Convention provides that a tribunal
constituted under Article 287 has jurisdiction “over any dispute concerning the interpretation
or application of [the] Convention.” The present dispute concerns the interpretation and
application of Articles 15, 74, 83 and 279 of the Convention. It is exclusively concerned with
the maritime boundary between Guyana and Suriname. As described in Chapters 3 and 4 of
the Memorial, and as further explained below, Guyana and Suriname accept the same point as
the northern terminus of their land boundary and the starting point for maritime delimitation.
Point 61 (known to Suriname as the 1936 Point) was initially fixed and adopted as the
northern land boundary terminus in 1936 by the United Kingdom and the Netherlands. It has
been recognised as such by them, and by Guyana and Suriname, continuously and
unequivocally for the past 70 years. Although Guyana and Suriname claim different
boundary lines in the territorial sea and the areas beyond -- Guyana claims a line of N34E and
Suriname claims a line of N10E -- it is very significant that both of these lines emanate from
the same point: Point 61.'

2.2 Inits Preliminary Objections of 23 May 2005, Suriname challenged the jurisdiction of
the Tribunal to delimit the Parties’ maritime boundary arguing that there is no agreement on
the location of the land boundary terminus at Point 61 -- and therefore no agreed starting
point for a maritime delimitation.> However, Suriname further argued that there is an
agreement that the land boundary terminus is at Point 61 if the maritime boundary runs from
that point along the N10E line that Suriname claims.> For Suriname, the agreement on the
location of the land boundary terminus at Point 61 is “inextricably linked” to a maritime
boundary along a line of N10E emanating from that point. On this basis, Suriname’s
Submissions ask the Tribunal:

To determine that the single maritime boundary between Suriname and
Guyana extends from the 1936 Point as a line of 10° east of true north to its
intersection with the 200-nautical-mile limit measured from the baseline
from which the breadth of Suriname’s territorial sea is measured.”

23 The contradiction in Suriname’s argument is clear. For Suriname, there is an agreed
land boundary terminus at Point 61 and the Tribunal has jurisdiction, but only if it agrees with
Suriname’s claim on the merits that the maritime boundary should follow the 10° line. By
contrast, if the Tribunal decides that the maritime boundary follows a different course from
the one claimed by Suriname, then, according to Suriname, both the agreement on Point 61

' The astronomical coordinates of this point as identified in 1936 are: latitude 5° 59° 53.8” N and longitude 57°
08’ 51.5” W. The geodetic coordinates of this same Point 61, determined by means of modern GPS techniques,
are 6° 00° 05” N and 57° 08’ 44.5” W in the World Geodetic Reference System of 1984 (WGS84). For
brevity’s sake, Guyana hereafter refers to this point simply as Point 61, without repeating each time that the
same point is called the 1936 Point by Suriname.

% Suriname’s Memorandum on Preliminary Objections (hereafter “SPO”), pp. 3-4, paras. 1.8-1.9.
*SCM, p. 3, para. 1.11; p. 15, para. 3.1; p. 125, para. 2.B.
* Ibid., p. 125, para. 2.B.
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and the basis for the Tribunal’s jurisdiction disappear. Suriname’s argument boils down to
this: the Tribunal has jurisdiction if it rules on the merits in Suriname’s favour, but it deprives
itself of jurisdiction if it rules otherwise. Such an argument defeats itself.

2.4  The argument is also defeated by the facts. The evidence shows clearly that since
1936 the Parties have mutually, consistently and unequivocally accepted Point 61 as the land
boundary terminus. For 70 years, both Suriname and Guyana have referred to or treated that
location (and on/y that location) as the land boundary terminus (i) in official governmental
publications;” (ii) in maritime boundary treaty negotiations;6 (iii) in communications with one
another and with third Parties;” and (iv) in setting the limits of oil concessions.® Not once
have Guyana or Suriname (or the United Kingdom or the Netherlands before them) adopted
any other point as the land boundary terminus. This unblemished historical record is
confirmed by Suriname’s Counter-Memorial which does not cite a single instance when
either State (or colonial predecessor) adopted a different point as the land boundary terminus.

2.5  The evidence also defeats Suriname’s argument that the Parties’ mutual adoption of
Point 61 as the land boundary terminus was conditioned on their acceptance of Suriname’s
claim of a maritime boundary line of N10E. To the contrary, as shown below, there was no
linkage between Point 61 and the 10° line even within the territorial sea. The agreement
between the United Kingdom and the Netherlands to establish the land boundary terminus at
Point 61 was prior to and independent of their understanding on the direction of the maritime
boundary line. Neither Guyana nor Suriname, nor their colonial predecessors, ever made
their adoption of Point 61 conditional upon acceptance of Suriname’s claimed 10° line or any
other line. Indeed, until the filing of Suriname’s Preliminary Objections on 23 May 2005,
there is no evidence that Suriname has ever previously claimed linkage between Point 61 and
the N10E maritime boundary line.

> “Regional Location and Trade,” Section 1.21 in Suriname Planatlas (1988) (“a Dutch-British frontier
commission established a point on the west bank of the Corantijn River (the so-called Kayzer-Phipps point,
5°59°53”8 north latitude - 57°08°51”’5 west longitude) as the most northern point on Suriname’s border with
Guyana, as well as the point of departure for the seaward dividing line between both countries.”). See MG, Vol.
11, Annex 47.

6 See, e.g., 1962 Dutch Draft Treaty between the Kingdom of the Netherlands and the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Northern Ireland establishing the frontier between Surinam and British Guiana, Article 1(3)(b)
(referencing “the point on the left bank where the river debouches into the sea”). See MG, Vol. III, Annex 91;
1961 British Draft Treaty — British Guiana/Surinam Boundary, Part I, Article I. See MG, Vol. III, Annex 90.

7 Description of the Western Boundary of the Republic of Suriname (28 June 2000), see MG, Vol. II, Annex 51;
Letter from the Ambassador of Guyana to Suriname to Clement Rohee, Minister of Foreign Affairs, with
attached Note Verbale No. 2566/HA/eb from the Republic of Suriname to the Cooperative Republic of Guyana
(31 May 2000), see MG, Vol. II, Annex 78.

¥ California Oil Company (British Guiana) Limited - Oil Exploration Licence, Issued on 15™ April 1958, see
MG, Vol. III, Annex 105; Guyana Shell Limited Oil Exploration Licence No. 205 (11 August 1965), see MG,
Vol. III, Annex 107; Guyana Natural Resources Agency, Berbice Agreement (12 October 1989), see MG, Vol.
III, Annex 150; Petroleum Prospecting Licence Between the Minister Responsible for Petroleum Representing
the Government of the Cooperative Republic of Guyana and CGX Resources Inc. (9 December 1998), see RG,
Vol. II, Annex R23 (this document was inadvertently produced in incomplete form at MG, Vol. III, Annex 157);
Map indicating the concession area of the Colmar Surinam Oil Company, see SCM, Chapter 5, Figure 6
(following p. 66); Staatsolie Pecten concession area, see SCM, Chapter 5, Figure 22 (following p. 76); SCM, p.
78, note 375; Survey of Concession Agreements Between the Republic of Suriname and Staatsolie Maatschappij
Suriname N.V. (24 February 2004), see SCM, Vol. III, Annex 56 and SCM, Chapter 5, Figure 23 (following p.
76).
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2.6 Suriname has also objected to the admissibility of Guyana’s Second and Third
Submissions on Suriname’s unlawful use of force and failure to pursue provisional measures
of a practical nature. Suriname contends that these submissions are inadmissible because
Guyana did not act in good faith and lacks “clean hands.” Guyana disputes that it acted in
bad faith or with unclean hands. Chapters 8 and 9 of this Reply respond to Suriname’s
arguments on the merits. In its Memorandum on Preliminary Objections, Suriname did not
identify a single authority in support of its novel arguments on inadmissibility. As Guyana
indicated at the Oral Hearings on Suriname’s Preliminary Objections, these arguments cannot
be resolved by the Tribunal without a consideration of the merits."”

2.7 By its Order No. 2 of 18 July 2005, the Tribunal decided that Suriname’s Preliminary
Objections “are in significant measure the same as the facts and arguments on which the
merits of the case depend, and the objections are not of an exclusively preliminary character”
and indicated that it would rule on these objections in its final award.""

2.8 In this Chapter, Guyana first responds to Suriname’s objections to jurisdiction; then it
responds to Suriname’s objections to admissibility.

I. The Jurisdiction of the Tribunal To Delimit the Maritime Boundary

2.9  Suriname contends that the Tribunal lacks jurisdiction to delimit the maritime
boundary because there is no agreement on a land boundary terminus at Point 61, and
therefore no agreed starting point for maritime delimitation, unless the Tribunal endorses
Suriname’s claim to a maritime boundary line of N10E from Point 61.'"> As shown below,
independently of the N10E line or any other maritime boundary ultimately established by the
Tribunal, the practise of the Parties reflects agreement that the northern land boundary
terminus and starting point for maritime limitation is located at Point 61. For 70 years the
Parties’ mutual reliance on Point 61 as the land boundary terminus has been uniform and
without exception. Suriname has offered no evidence of even a single instance when a point
other than Point 61 was relied upon by either Party as the land boundary terminus. Nor has
Suriname supplied proof that the Parties’ mutual adoption of Point 61 as the land boundary
terminus was conditioned on acceptance of the N10E line. The historical record begins with
the fixing of Point 61 as the land boundary terminus by the United Kingdom and the
Netherlands in 1936. It continues to the present day reflected infer alia in a series of public
declarations and pronouncements by which the Parties accepted Point 61 independent of the
direction of the maritime boundary.

A. The Fixing of the Land Boundary Terminus at Point 61 in 1936

2.10  The details of the joint effort by the United Kingdom and the Netherlands to fix the
land boundary terminus in 1936 are set out in Guyana’s Memorial.”> Suriname does not
dispute this history but attempts to re-characterize the mixed Boundary Commission’s task.

% SPO, p. 47, para. 7.8.

1 See, e.g., Uncorrected Transcript of Hearing on Need for a Hearing on Suriname’s Preliminary Objections, p.
20, lines 16-24 (Day Two; Friday, 8 July 2005).

"' Order No. 2 of 18 July 2005, Preliminary Objections, p. 2.
2SCM, p. 3., para. 1.11; p. 15, para. 3.1; p. 125, para. 2B.
13 See MG, pp. 14-18, paras. 3.5-3.14.
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Rather than fix the land boundary terminus, Suriname argues that the Boundary
Commissioners were asked merely to make a “recommendation” as to the location of the land
boundary terminus, for later acceptance or rejection by their respective governments.'*
Suriname’s contention is belied by the historical record. Indeed, the very title of the
Boundary Commission’s report -- “Report on the Inauguration of the Mark at the Northern
Terminal of the Boundary Between Surinam and British Guiana” -- indicates that the exercise
was intended to be definitive."

2.11 Suriname’s own documents confirm that the Boundary Commission’s task was to fix
the land boundary terminus definitively, not merely to make a recommendation. Annex 1 of
Suriname’s Counter-Memorial is a July 1935 draft boundary treaty between the United
Kingdom and the Netherlands.'® The covering memorandum from the British Secretary of
State to the Netherlands Minister Plenipotentiary in London makes clear that the Boundary
Commission had full authority to fix the land boundary terminus at a point certain. It states
in relevant part: “It does not appear practicable for a treaty to be concluded ... until a final
settlement has been reached regarding those points in the boundary which are fo be delimited
by the Boundary Commissioners at their forthcoming meeting.”"’

2.12  The body of the 1935 draft treaty further confirms the point. Article 1, paragraph 2
states that the northern land boundary terminus shall be at a “point at which a line drawn on a
true bearing of 28° from a beacon to be erected” intersects the shore line.'® The approximate
coordinates of the proposed beacon are given, but only provisionally. In a footnote, the draft
states that the beacon is “to be erected before the treaty is signed by a joint commission.”" It
goes on to state that the “geographic co-ordinates [in the draft treaty] are only intended as a
guide as to where the beacon is to be erected. ... When the beacon is erected its position can
be more accurately ascertained, and the coordinates shown above can then be corrected if
necessary for the purposes of the final draft of the treaty.”® These provisions make clear that
the Boundary Commission was authorised to fix the precise location of the land boundary
terminus and that the coordinates they chose would then be incorporated into the final draft
treaty.

2.13  Suriname’s contention that the Boundary Commission’s job was merely to make a
“recommendation” as to the location of the land boundary terminus is also at odds with the
action taken by the Commission -- the burial of a concrete block with a visible pillar
engraved in brass. If the Boundary Commissioners’ terms of reference were as limited as
Suriname now claims, it is unlikely they would have invested the time and effort in laying
such a permanent marker. Laying the marker was a serious endeavour. The Boundary

14 See, e.g., SPO, pp. 6-7, paras. 2.4-2.6 (repeatedly characterising the fixing of the land boundary terminus by
the Boundary Commission as a mere “recommendation”).

'> Report on the Inauguration of the Mark at the Northern Terminal of the Boundary Between Surinam and
British Guiana (5 July 1936). See MG, Vol. II, Annex 11.

16 Letter of the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to the Netherlands Minister, enclosing Draft Treaty (4 July
1935). See SCM, Vol. II, Annex 1.

'7SCM, Vol. II, Annex 1, para. 2 (emphasis added).
'8 Ibid., Article 1(2).

19 Ibid., Article 1(2), note 1.

2 1bid., Vol. I, Annex 1, Article 1(2), note 2.
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Commissioners buried a concrete block below the surface of the earth. The concrete block
supported a visible pillar with a brass bolt embedded at the top and marked “A” together with
the words “BRITISH GUIANA” engraved on its northwest face and “SURINAME” engraved
on its northeast face.”’ The nature of the marker and the effort involved in laying it indicate
that the intention was to establish a permanent land boundary terminus.

2.14 This is confirmed by subsequent practise. The Parties’ actions immediately following
the burial of the concrete and brass pillar at Point 61 reflect their understanding that the
Boundary Commission had definitively fixed the land boundary terminus. Within days of
placing the marker, the Chief British Commissioner wrote to the United Kingdom’s
Undersecretary of State for the Colonies: “With regard to the Northern Terminal of the
Boundary between Surinam and British Guiana, we have now fixed this point with the
Netherlands Commission.” The actions of the Netherlands were to the same effect. On 17
July 1936, just two weeks after the marker had been laid, the Netherlands Boundary
Commissioner reported to the Netherlands Minister of Colonies on the “fixing the northern
end of the border on the left bank of the Corantijn.”* Consistent with this understanding, the
Netherlands subsequently referred to Point 61 as the “/imit between Netherlands and British
Territory.”** On 20 August 1938, the Netherlands Boundary Commissioner wrote that the
construction of the beacon at this site had constituted “the establishment of the boundary sign
in the Northern end point of the boundary between Surinam and British Guiana.”*

2.15 In 1939, the British sent the Dutch a final draft treaty, which incorporated Point 61 as
the land boundary terminus and starting point for maritime delimitation.*® Suriname suggests
that it is “speculative” whether the Dutch would have signed it had not World War II
intervened.”” But the Dutch themselves did not speculate. In a 1953 letter to the
International Law Commission, they said flatly that “[t]he Western boundary of Surinam has
been settled as follows in a draft treaty between the Netherlands and the United Kingdom, the
ratification of which has been interrupted by the last war.”®® The Dutch letter specifically
treats as “settled” the starting point for maritime delimitation fixed by “the landmark referred

2' MG, Vol. II, Annex 11, at 5(a-d).

22 Letter from Major Phipps, Chief British Commissioner, British Guiana Brazil Boundary Commission, to the
Under Secretary of State for the Colonies, Colonial Office (9 July 1936) [hereinafter “Letter from Major Phipps
(9 July 1936)]. See MG, Vol. II, Annex 12 (emphasis added).

3 Letter from the Dutch Boundary Commissioner Vice-Admiral C.C. Kayser to the Dutch Minister of Colonies
(17 July 1936) (emphasis added) (original in Dutch, translation provided by Guyana). See MG, Vol. II, Annex
41.

* Letter from S.A. Edgell, Hydrographic Department to the Colonial Secretary (20 December 1938). See MG,
Vol. II, Annex 15.

 Letter from Head of the Commission for the Settlement of the Boundary to the Minister for the Colonies (20
August 1938) (emphasis added) (original in Dutch, translation provided by Guyana). See RG, Vol. I, Annex
R27.

%6 1939 British Draft Treaty, Article 1(2). See MG, Vol. III, Annex 89.
' SPO, p. 8, para. 2.9.

8 Information and Observations Submitted by Governments Regarding the Question of the Delimitation of the
Territorial Sea of Two Adjacent States, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1953, Vol. 11, Doc.
A/CN.4/71 and Add. 1-2, 82-83 (1959)(emphasis added). See RG, Vol. II, Annex R9.
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to in article 1 (2)” of the 1939 draft treaty; that is, the concrete and brass pillar that was laid at
Point 61.%

2.16 It is thus clear that the colonial powers mutually and unequivocally treated the
Boundary Commission’s actions as a definitive settlement of the land boundary terminus at
Point 61. Since 1936, their consistent and sustained practise, as well as that of Guyana and
Suriname, only underscores this common understanding. At no time since 1936 did either of
the Parties (or their colonial predecessors) adopt any point other than Point 61 as the land
boundary terminus.

B. Suriname’s Public Pronouncements that Point 61 Is the Land Boundary Terminus

2.17 Suriname’s claim in these proceedings is inconsistent with its own public
pronouncements. It has repeatedly issued statements claiming Point 61 as the land boundary
terminus. In defining Suriname’s “Seaward Boundary,” for example, the official Planatlas
(published by Suriname’s National Planning Office in 1988) states:

a Dutch-British frontier commission established a point on the west bank
of the Carantijn River (the so-called Kayzer-Phipps point, 5° 59 53" north
latitude - 57° 08” 517 5 west longitude [i.e., Point 61]) as the most northern
point on Suriname’s border with Guyana, as well as the point of departure
for the seaward dividing line between both countries.™

2.18 Suriname’s endorsement of Point 61 is likewise reflected in a 1989 exchange of
diplomatic notes with Guyana. On 11 January 1989, Guyana sent a nofe verbale to Suriname
protesting the latter’s reported granting of an oil concession in Guyanese waters.”’ The
response of the Embassy of Suriname stated that Guyana’s Note Verbale had been “brought
to the attention of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Suriname and other relevant
authorities.”™ Suriname’s response unambiguously recognised Point 61 as the land boundary
terminus, stating that “the western sea boundary” of Suriname is “formed by” a “line” that is
“drawn from latitude 5° 59° 53” and longitude 57° 08° 51” W [i.e., Point 61].7

2.19 Suriname reaffirmed its adoption of Point 61 as the land boundary terminus on 31
May 2000, when its Minister of Foreign Affairs wrote to the Embassy of Guyana in
Paramaribo:

The Government of the Republic of Suriname wishes to reiterate that from
the point mark Latitude 5° 59’ 53.8” North, Longitude: 57° 08> 51.5” West

2 Ibid.

30 “Regional Location and Trade,” Section 1.21 in Suriname Planatlas (1988). See MG, Vol. II, Annex 47. The
statement in Suriname’s Planatlas that the Boundary Commission “established” Point 61 “as the most northern
point on Suriname’s border with Guyana” constitutes further refutation of the argument in the Counter-
Memorial that the Boundary Commission had done nothing more than make a “recommendation” as to the
possible location of the land boundary terminus. /bid. See also SPO, pp. 6-7, paras. 2.4-2.6.

3! Note Verbale from the Cooperative Republic of Guyana to the Republic of Suriname (11 January 1989). See
MG, Vol. III, Annex 70.

32 Note Verbale from the Embassy of the Republic of Suriname to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Co-
operative Republic of Guyana (23 January 1989). See RG, Vol. II, Annex R13.

33 Ibid.
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[i.e., Point 61], the direction of the boundary line in the territorial waters is
on a true bearing of 10° East.**

2.20 Suriname’s official position that Point 61 is the land boundary terminus was
underscored yet again at the Twenty-First Meeting of the Conference of Heads of
Government of CARICOM on 2-5 July 2000. At that meeting, Suriname’s President, Jules
A. Wijdenbosch, presented a formal description of the “western boundary of Suriname with
the neighbouring country of Guyana.™> The description affirmed Point 61 as the land
boundary terminus. Suriname’s western border was described as the “shortest line” from the
“southern boundary” with Brazil “along the west bank of the Upper Corentyne and the
Corentyne rivers to the point marked: Latitude 5°59°53”.8 North and Longitude 57°08°51.5”
West [i.e., Point 61], where the aforesaid shoreline cuts the coast in sea.” From “this marked
point” is drawn the “western limit of the Territorial Sea, the Exclusive Economic Zone and
the Continental Shelf of Suriname.”® To support this statement, Suriname presented a copy
of the 1936 Mixed Boundary Commission’s report.>’

C. Suriname’s Use of Point 61 in Setting the Limits of Its Oil Concessions

2.21 The Parties’ mutual recognition of Point 61 is also reflected inter alia in their oil
concession practises which treat that point as the land boundary terminus. British Guiana
began this practise in 1958 with a concession to the California Oil Company which began at
“a point in latitude 5°59'53.8” North, longitude 57°08°51.5” West, established by the
intersection of the Surinam and British Guiana international boundary demarcated by a large
triangular wooden beacon;™® -- that is, Point 61. Subsequent oil concessions by British

Guiana and Guyana also used Point 61 as the land boundary terminus.*

3* Letter from Karshanjee Arjun, Ambassador of Guyana to Suriname to Clement Rohee, Minister of Foreign
Affairs, with attached Note Verbale No. 2566/HA/eb from the Republic of Suriname to the Cooperative
Republic of Guyana (31 May 2000). See MG, Vol. II, Annex 78. Suriname made a similar statement in a letter
of the same date sent to CGX Energy Co. Letter from the Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of
Suriname to Kerry Sully, President, CGX Energy, Inc. (31 May 2000). See MG, Vol. II, Annex 49.

35 Description of the Western Boundary of the Republic of Suriname (28 June 2000). See MG, Vol. II, Annex
51. See also Description of the Western Boundary of the Republic of Suriname (28 June 2000) produced in
Documentation Provided by the Delegation of the Republic of Suriname at the Twenty-First Meeting of the
Conference of Heads of Government of the Caribbean Community, Canouan, St. Vincent and the Grenadines
(2-5 July 2000) [Extracts]. See RG, Vol. II, Annex R18.

3 Description of the Western Boundary of the Republic of Suriname (28 June 2000). See MG, Vol. II, Annex
S1.

*7 See Report on the Inauguration of the Mark at the Northern Terminal of the Boundary Between Surinam and
British Guiana (5 July 1936) produced in Documentation Provided by the Delegation of the Republic of
Suriname at the Twenty-First Meeting of the Conference of Heads of Government of the Caribbean Community,
Canouan, St. Vincent and the Grenadines (2-5 July 2000) (extracts). See RG, Vol. II, Annex R18.

3% California Oil Company (British Guiana) Limited - Oil Exploration Licence, Issued on 15™ April 1958
[extracts]. See MG, Vol. III, Annex 105.

¥ Guyana Shell Limited Oil Exploration Licence No. 205 (11 August 1965), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 107;
Guyana Natural Resources Agency, Berbice Agreement (12 October 1989), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 150;
Petroleum Prospecting Licence Between the Minister Responsible for Petroleum Representing the Government
of the Cooperative Republic of Guyana and CGX Resources Inc. (9 December 1998), see RG, Vol. II, Annex 23
(this document was inadvertently produced in incomplete form at MG, Vol. III, Annex 157).
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2.22  Suriname’s practice is equally consistent. This is clearly illustrated in Suriname’s
Counter-Memorial, in Figures 8 through 26, all of which depict the common starting point for
the maritime boundaries claimed by Suriname and Guyana, as well as for oil concessions
issued by both States. Figures 22 through 26, in particular, depict how Suriname’s
concession to Staatsolie between 1993 and 2000 emanated from Point 61.%

2.23  In sum, the conduct of the Parties overwhelmingly demonstrates that Guyana and
Suriname have treated Point 61 as their northern land boundary terminus.

D. Suriname Never Adopted a Land Boundary Terminus Other than Point 61

2.24  Against this evidence, Suriname makes a half-hearted effort to create the appearance
of a dispute over the location of the land boundary terminus. The argument is set forth in
both the Memorandum on Preliminary Objections and the Counter-Memorial. It is based on
a map provided by the Dutch to the British in 1959 on which the Dutch had drawn an
illustrative closing line for the Corentyne River, the western endpoint of which lay on the
Guyana coast approximately two miles north of Point 61. It is undisputed, however, that the
point on the 1959 map was never regarded as marking the actual mouth of the Corentyne
River, where the river debouches into the sea, and where the Dutch and the British had agreed
to fix the land boundary terminus. Rather, the Dutch explained in 1959 that they were
proposing to treat the entrance to the river as a juridical bay, and were drawing a closing line
of 10 nm across this “bay.” Thus, the endpoints of the closing line were chosen because of
their distance from one another (10 nm) rather than their location at the actual mouth of the
river.* The British objected to the closing line on the grounds that international law did not
recognise a juridical bay at the entrance to the Corentyne River, and thus there was no
justification for a closing line anywhere other than at the actual point where the river flows
into the sea.*” The Dutch promptly abandoned both the closing line and its endpoints.
Significantly, their next draft treaty (of 1962) included Point 61 as the endpoint for the river
closing line, and described it as “the point on the left bank where the river debouches into the
sea.”” Suriname’s written pleadings neglect to mention this.

2.25 Instead, the Memorandum on Preliminary Objections and the Counter-Memorial
attempt to resurrect the 1959 map by noting that Suriname briefly revived it at the 1966

% SCM, Chapter 5, Figures 22-26 (following p. 76).

*! The Dutch position was that the closing line for the Corentyne River mouth should “follow the principles
generally accepted for determining the extent of bays where both coasts belong to the same state.”
Memorandum from L. J. Van der Burg, Head of Legal Affairs Department, to Head of Hydrography (15
December 1958). See SPO, Annex 13. The flaw in this approach was obvious: both “coasts” of the Corentyne
River did not belong to the same State.

2 Letter from R.H. Kennedy, Hydrographic Department, Admiralty to J.J. d’A Collings, Foreign Office,
Colonial Office (17 August 1959). See SPO, Annex 23. Among the reasons cited for rejecting the Dutch
approach was the fact that the two coasts of the Corentyne River belonged to different States. Commander
Kennedy also objected to the closing line drawn by the Dutch because it was “well northward of the limit of the
territorial sea of British Guiana ... [and] ... encloses as Dutch internal waters some of the British Guiana
territorial sea.”

#1962 Dutch Draft Treaty between the Kingdom of the Netherlands and the United Kingdom of Great Britain
and Northern Ireland establishing the frontier between Surinam and British Guiana, Article 1(3)(b). See MG,
Vol. III, Annex 91.

22



Reply of Guyana

Marlborough House talks with Guyana.*® Suriname’s minutes of the meetings include a
rough sketch of the coastline appurtenant to the Corentyne River with a hand-drawn closing
line resembling the one the Dutch drew in 1959 and later discarded.® However, in late 1965,
shortly before the Marlborough House talks, Dr. F.S. Essed (who led Suriname’s delegation
at Marlborough House) confirmed that Suriname regarded Point 61 as the land boundary
terminus and starting point for maritime delimitation: “The possibility of negotiating on this
border [i.e., in the continental shelf] is therefore still open provided that, of course, the point
on the west bank of the Corantijn, where it meets the sea, is taken as the starting point in
dividing the continental shelf.””*®

2.26  Whatever its negotiating strategy in bringing up the 1959 closing line at Marlborough
House, Suriname acknowledges that it was rejected by Guyana (as it had been previously by
the British), and that Guyana insisted that the starting point for delimitation of the maritime
boundary must be at Point 61, where the river meets the sea.”” Even more to the point, the
1959 map was never raised by Suriname again. For the next 40 years, Suriname and Guyana
treated Point 61 -- and no other point -- as the land boundary terminus and the starting point
for maritime delimitation.

2.27 Thus, it is curious that Suriname now takes a contrary position. All of the sudden, it
appears, Suriname has decided that Point 61 is no longer located at “the point at which the
river bank changes into the coastline.”*® However, since its independence in 1975, Suriname
has uniformly and repeatedly given the coordinates for this location -- where “the river bank
changes into the coastline” -- as “Latitude: 5° 59° 53.8” North, Longitude: 57° 08’ 51.5”
West” -- the exact coordinates of Point 61. Indeed, both the Netherlands and Suriname have
consistently regarded Point 61 as “the left bank of the River Courentyne at the sea” since
1936. This is the language used to describe the location of the point both before it was
established (in the 1935 draft treaty)® and after it was fixed by the Boundary Commission (in
the 1939 draft treaty).”’ And in 1965 Suriname’s Dr. Essed referred to the same point in
describing the starting point for maritime delimitation as “the point on the west bank of the
Corentijn, where it meets the sea.”' Thus, for Suriname (as for the Netherlands), the point
where the Corentyne River meets the sea, that is, where the river bank changes to the
coastline, has always been the point fixed by the Boundary Commissioners in 1936: Point
61. Always, at least, until these proceedings.

# SPO, p. 17, para. 3.11. See also Report of the Discussions Held Between Suriname and Guyana at
Marlborough House, London, England (23 June 1966). See SPO, Annex 17, p. 3.

* Ibid.

% Report on the Discussion held at the Office of the Secretary-General of the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign
Affairs between Surinamese and Dutch Delegations (30 November 1965) (original in Dutch, translation
provided by Guyana) [hereinafter “Report on the Discussion held 30 November 1965”]. See MG, Vol. II,
Annex 43.

47 SPO, p- 24, para. 5.6; Annex 17, p. 7.
48 SCM, p. 17, para. 3.13; SPO, p. 9, para. 2.13.

# Letter of the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to the Netherlands Minister, enclosing Draft Treaty (4 July
1935). See SCM, Vol. II, Annex 1.

%01939 British Draft Treaty, Article 1(2). See MG, Vol. III, Annex 89.
>! Report on the Discussion held 30 November 1965, supra Chapter 2, note 46.
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2.28 In its Memorandum on Preliminary Objections, Suriname also raised a so-called
“Point X” as a potential land boundary terminus.’”> Suriname apparently had second
thoughts, however, because the idea was discarded in the Counter-Memorial. “Point X” was
evidently identified solely for purposes of this case. Neither the point nor the purported
“geometric method” by which it was constructed was ever mentioned (and apparently was
never even thought of) by Suriname at any time in the past 70 years. Suriname makes no
pretense to the contrary. Nor does Suriname supply any precedent in the caselaw or in State
practise for the use of its “geometric method” in establishing a closing line at the mouth of a
river. Guyana is aware of none. In any event, one look at Suriname’s depiction of “Point X
(at Figure 3 of the Memorandum on Preliminary Objections) is sufficient to dispense with it.
It is very clearly a long way from the actual mouth of the river. Inasmuch as Suriname’s
Counter-Memorial has abandoned Point X, the Tribunal need not consider it further.

E. Point 61 Is Not “Inextricably Linked” to a 10° Line

2.29  Suriname argues in its Memorandum on Preliminary Objections and Counter-
Memorial that Point 61 and the 10° line were “inextricably linked,”> with the adoption of
each dependent on the adoption of the other. Thus, Suriname claims that there is either an
agreement on both Point 61 and the 10° line, in which case the Tribunal has jurisdiction to
delimit the maritime boundary (along the 10° line), or there is an agreement on neither, in
which case the Tribunal has no jurisdiction. History refutes Suriname’s argument. In
actuality, Point 61 and the 10° line were determined independently; since the adoption of
Point 61 Suriname has not conditioned its acceptance on agreement on a 10° line. It has
always been Guyana’s position that the Parties’ mutual and enduring adoption of the former
in no way implies their acceptance of the latter. Thus, it is surprising to read in the Counter-
Memorial that “Guyana does not contest that the 1936 Point and the 10° Line were
established in combination.”* This is simply not true.

230 The work of the Mixed Boundary Commission in 1936 demonstrates the
independence of Point 61 from the 10° line. As the 1935 draft treaty makes clear, the
Commissioners were given full authority to fix the precise coordinates of the land boundary
terminus at a location “compatible with permanence.” Notwithstanding the as-yet-
undetermined location of that point, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands had already
decided on a boundary line in the sea at N28E.>® From the perspective of the treaty drafters,
the precise location of the land boundary terminus, on the one hand, and the angle of the
boundary line, on the other, were thus distinct matters. And the location of the land boundary
terminus was certainly not linked to a boundary line of 10°.

2.31 The Boundary Commission report also makes clear that the location of the land
boundary terminus and the angle of the boundary line in the sea were determined separately,
with priority given to the terminus. Again, the title of the report is instructive: “Report on

2SPO, p.11, para. 2.17.
3 SCM, p. 3, para. 1.11; p. 15, para. 3.1
* Ibid., p. 57, para. 4.56.

> Letter of the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to the Netherlands Minister, enclosing Draft Treaty (4 July
1935). See SCM, Vol. II, Annex 1, art. 1(2), note 2.

' SCM, p. 19, para. 3.5.
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the Inauguration of the Northern Terminal Point Mark of the Suriname/British Guiana
Boundary.”’ It is telling that the reference is to the fixing of the land boundary terminus, not
to setting the direction of the maritime boundary in the territorial sea. Furthermore, as
paragraph 3 of the report makes clear, it was only affer the land boundary terminus had been
definitively set at Point 61 that the Dutch Commissioner raised the subject of the angle of the
boundary line in the sea.™® The Counter-Memorial itself recognises that first “the
Commissioners chose a point on the ground” as the land boundary terminus and then
“observations at the mouth of the Corentyne River revealed that the 28° azimuth line
proposed by the Netherlands did not meet the purpose for which it was proposed...”*’ In the
1953 memorandum to the Governor of Suriname, quoted above, the Dutch Foreign Ministry
explained that “with this bearing the channel would fall partly within Surinam territory and
partly within British territory, which could result in difficulties regarding lighting and beacon.
Therefore, a bearing was chosen of 10° East.”®

2.32  The independence of the settlement of the land boundary terminus from the agreement
on the boundary line in the territorial sea is further confirmed by Annex 14 of Suriname’s
Counter-Memorial, a 20 June 1937 “Top Secret” letter from the Dutch Boundary
Commissioner to the Minister of State for the Colonies. This notes that “the joint
commission is proposing a departure from the original instructions [to demark a 28°
boundary line in the territorial sea. O]f the boundary markers referred to in the report only
the concrete block indicating the boundary terminus has been erected for the present. The
other markers [indicating the direction of the boundary in the territorial sea] and the beacon
visible from the sea will be erected as soon as both Governments have given their approval to
our proposals [on substituting a 10° line for the 28° line in the territorial sea].”®!

2.33  Moreover, when the Dutch Commissioner proposed to change the 28° line to one of
10° so as to avoid intersecting a potential western navigation channel at the mouth of the
Corentyne River, the British Commissioner agreed -- on the understanding that it would be “a
comparatively simple matter to rebuild the direction pillar” should circumstances warrant.*?
There was no suggestion of changing the terminus. The Counter-Memorial reveals that there
never was a western or 10° navigation channel in the Corentyne River, only the “possibility”
that one might eventually be formed. A 1931 letter from the Dutch Minister of Defense to
the Minister for the Colonies, stated that although “the navigation channel lies along the
Dutch [i.e., eastern] bank, the possibility cannot be ruled out that in future it may come to run
between the English coastal bank [and] the middle of the Corentijn...”63 Thus, there is no
support for Suriname’s argument that Point 61 was accepted as the land boundary terminus

37 Report on the Inauguration of the Mark at the Northern Terminal of the Boundary Between Surinam and
British Guiana (5 July 1936). See MG, Vol. II, Annex 11.

38 Ibid., para. 3.
%Y SCM, p. 17, paras. 3.7-3.8.
% Letter to the Governor of Suriname (13 February 1953), supra Chapter 1, note 9.

1 L etter of C.C. Kayser, Head of the Boundary Settlement Commission, to the Minister of State, Minister for
the Colonies (20 June 1937). See SCM, Vol. II, Annex 14.

62 Letter from Major Phipps (9 July 1936), supra note 22. See MG, Vol. II, Annex 12. See also MG, p. 19,
para. 3.16.

% Letter of the Minister of Defense to the Minister for the Colonies (27 February 1931). See SCM, Vol. II,
Annex 11.
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by the Dutch only on condition that the British accept the 10° line in the sea. To the contrary,
whereas the Parties’ establishment of Point 61 as the land boundary terminus was deemed to
be permanent, their acceptance of the 10° line was subject to change if and when the
circumstances warranted.

2.34  Point 61 and the 10° line were used together for approximately 20 years but only up to
a three nm limit. By the early 1960s, circumstances changed. It had become clear that the
“western navigational channel” in the Corentyne River was not being utilised, so that the
rationale for the 10° line disappeared.*® Suriname does not dispute these changed
circumstances. Although it makes a point of stating that it does not concede them, it offers
no evidence of any navigation along the 10° line.” Nor does Suriname dispute that the
United Kingdom, as a consequence of the changed circumstances, decisively rejected the 10°
line, even within the three-nm limit of the territorial sea, but continued along with the
Netherlands to treat Point 61 as the land boundary terminus. As set forth in Suriname’s own
Counter-Memorial, the British “abandoned the 10° line position but retained the 1936 Point
as the starting point for the equidistance line.”*® The Counter-Memorial continues: “Guyana
and Suriname carried these varying points of view into the Marlborough House talks and
retain them to this day.”®’ Thus, by Suriname’s own admission Guyana and Suriname have
always treated Point 61 as the land boundary terminus notwithstanding their disagreement as
to Suriname’s claim to a 10° line.*®

& Letter from J.C.E. White, British Hydrographic Department to N.B.J. Huijsman, Colonial Office (16 October
1962), see MG, Vol. II, Annex 28; Letter from Governor of British Guiana Sir Ralph Grey to J.W. Stacpoole,
Colonial Office (3 May 1963), see MG, Vol. II, Annex 30.

% SCM, pp. 59-60, para. 4.66.
% Ibid., pp. 58-59, para. 4.62.
57 Ibid.

% Guyana’s rejection of the 10° line is reflected, inter alia, by its 1971 draft treaty proposed to Suriname, its
Maritime Boundaries Act of 1977, the 1986 Petroleum Act, and its issuance of numerous oil concessions east of
the N10OE line. 1971 Treaty Between the Republic of Guyana and the Kingdom of the Netherlands for the
Definition of the Frontier Between Guyana and Surinam, see MG, Vol. III, Annex 93; Maritime Boundaries Act
1977, Act No. 10 of 1977 (1977), see MG, Vol. IlI, Annex 99; 1986 Petroleum (Exploration and Production)
Act, Act No. 3 of 1986 (1986); see RG, Vol. II, Annex R24 (this document was inadvertently produced in
incomplete form at MG, Vol. III, Annex 100); Guyana Shell Limited Oil Exploration Licence No. 205 (11
August 1965), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 107; Oil Exploration Licence No. 222, between the President and
Commander-in-Chief of Guyana and Oxoco (Guyana) Ltd. (13 January 1971), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 110; Oil
Exploration Licence No. 226, between the President and Commander-in-Chief of Guyana and Oxoco Guyana
Ltd. (15 November 1972), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 113; Heads of Agreement Between The Government of
Guyana and Seagull Petroleum Limited (2 April 1979), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 118; Letter from M. Ala,
Seagull Petroleum Ltd. to H.O. Jack, Minister of Energy and Natural Resources (9 July 1979), see MG, Vol. III,
Annex 119; Secret Memorandum by the Minister of Energy and Natural Resources, Application for Permission
by Seagull/Denison and Major Crude Oil for exploration rights for petroleum in Guyana (November 1979), see
MG, Vol. III, Annex 120; Agreement for an Oil Prospecting Licence Between Denison/Seagull and
Government, Memorandum by the Minister of Energy and Mines (9 April 1981), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 122;
LASMO Oil (Guyana) Limited and BHP Petroleum (Guyana) Inc., Co-operative Republic of Guyana
Exploration Licence: Satira, 1988/1989 Work Programme and Budget (16 November 1988), see MG, Vol. III,
Annex 145; Guyana Natural Resources Agency, Abary Agreement (12 October 1989), see MG, Vol. III, Annex
149; Guyana Natural Resources Agency, Berbice Agreement (12 October 1989), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 150;
Petroleum Prospecting Licence Between Guyana Geology and Mines Commission and Maxus Guyana Limited
(25 November 1997), Annex A “Description of Contract Area,” see MG, Vol. III, Annex 155; Petroleum
Prospecting Licence Between the Minister Responsible for Petroleum Representing the Government of the
Cooperative Republic of Guyana and CGX Resources Inc. (24 June 1998), see MG, Vol. III, Annex 156;
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2.35 To be sure, Suriname has consistently claimed that the land boundary terminus is at
Point 61 and that the maritime boundary should follow a 10° line commencing at that point.
But that does not make the two positions “inextricably linked.” There is no evidence that
Suriname had ever taken the position that its acceptance of Point 61 is dependent on
Guyana’s acceptance of the 10° line before these proceedings. In fact, the record shows
exactly the opposite: Suriname never conditioned its acceptance of Point 61 to its 10° claim.
In 1965, for example, Dr. Essed expressly de-linked Point 61 (which he insisted on as the
starting point for maritime delimitation) from the maritime boundary line in the continental
shelf (which he called “still open” to negotiation).” The following year, at the 1966
Marlborough House talks, Suriname also de-linked its 10° claim from Point 61.”° As
indicated above, at those talks Suriname sketched a closing line north of Point 61, from
which it claimed a maritime boundary line of 10° both in the territorial sea and the
continental shelf. There is no evidence showing linkage at any subsequent time.

2.36  The evidence leaves no room for doubt that the Parties have treated Point 61 as the
land boundary terminus and starting point for maritime jurisdiction notwithstanding any
disagreement as to the maritime boundary. The conduct of the Parties with respect to Point
61 fully satisfies the criteria for a binding, tacit agreement put forward by Suriname in its
Counter-Memorial; namely, that the conduct is “mutual, consistent, sustained and
unequivocal.””"  Equally, the record does not support Suriname’s contention, advanced for
the first time in these proceedings, that its adoption of Point 61 as the land boundary terminus
is “inextricably linked” to acceptance of the 10° line as the maritime boundary in the
territorial sea and the areas beyond. Thus, the Tribunal’s jurisdiction will not be
compromised if it delimits a boundary other than the 10° line advocated by Suriname.

F. Article 9 of the 1982 Convention

2.37 Guyana submits that the Tribunal’s jurisdiction is clearly established on the basis of
the Parties’ agreement on the land boundary terminus and starting point for maritime
delimitation at Point 61. But in the unlikely event that the Tribunal rules otherwise, it would
still have jurisdiction. Under Article 9 of the 1982 Convention, the Tribunal has jurisdiction
to determine the location of the mouth of the Corentyne River, where the Parties agree that
their land boundary terminus was established. Guyana submits that a determination under
Article 9 would lead the Tribunal to the same conclusion that the conduct of the Parties for 70
years establishes: that Point 61 is located at the mouth of the river. However, even if, for the
sake of argument, the Tribunal were to determine that the mouth of the river is at another
point, it would have jurisdiction to start the delimitation of the maritime boundary at that
point.

Petroleum Prospecting Licence Between the Minister Responsible for Petroleum Representing the Government
of the Cooperative Republic of Guyana and CGX Resources Inc. (9 December 1998), see RG, Vol. II, Annex 23
(this document was inadvertently produced in incomplete form at MG, Vol. III, Annex 157).

% Report on the Discussion held 30 November 1965, supra Chapter 2, note 46.

7 Report of the Discussions Held Between Suriname and Guyana at Marlborough House, London, England (23
June 1966) [hereinafter “Marlborough House Discussions”] (original in Dutch, translation provided by Guyana).
See MG, Vol. II, Annex 69.

"' SCM, p. 52, para. 4.40.
27



Reply of Guyana

2.38 Article 9 of the Convention provides that “[i]f a river flows directly into the sea, the
baseline shall be a straight line across the mouth of the river between points on the low-water
line of its banks.” To draw a baseline across the mouth of the river requires, in the first
instance, a determination of where the river’s mouth is. Accordingly, determining the
location of a river’s mouth constitutes an application of Article 9 of the Convention, and falls
within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal under Article 288(1). Indeed, even Suriname’s
erroneous argument that the mouth of the Corentyne River should be determined under
Article 10, rather than Article 9,”* confirms the Tribunal’s jurisdiction under Article 288(1)
because it calls upon the Tribunal to interpret or apply Article 10. In fact, as shown below, it
is Article 9 that applies to the mouth of the Corentyne River, not Article 10. But the
interpretation or application of either Article is within the Tribunal’s jurisdiction under
Article 288(1).

2.39 Article 10 does not apply to rivers. It applies only to bays (or estuaries that have the
characteristics of bays), and then only when both coasts belong to a single State.” This is
clearly not the case of the Corentyne River. It is a river, not a bay, and its western bank or
“coast” belongs to Guyana. To fit this case into Article 10, Suriname resorts to the untenable
argument that the “coasts” of the Corentyne River “belong to a single State” because the
“low-water line of its west bank is part of the territory of Suriname.””* This is not correct.
The low-water line of a sea or river does not constitute a “coast” under any definition of the
term. The coast begins where the low-water line ends, and it is not in dispute that the west
“coast” of the river belongs to Guyana. Suriname itself expressly acknowledges this.”” Thus,
Suriname cannot credibly claim that both “coasts” belong to it. As Commander Kennedy
wrote in 1959, the British were “against any closing line here by likening the river mouth to a
bay” because the regime of bays does not apply under Article 7 of the 1958 Convention (the
predecessor to Article 10 of the 1982 Convention) “[i]n the case of a river, the banks of
which belong to two or more States...”’°

2.40 Suriname argues that Article 9 is inapplicable ipso facto whenever a river forms an
estuary -- even one whose estuary does not meet the criteria for treatment as a bay.”’ This is
a misreading of Article 9. Suriname’s argument is based on language that appears only in the
French text which provides that Article 9 applies where a river “se jette dans la mer sans
former d’estuaire.” This phrase does not appear in the English, Chinese, Russian, Spanish or
Arabic texts, all of which are “equally authentic” under Article 320. At all events, the texts
are easily reconciled. Article 9 and Article 10 are complementary and taken together they
cover river mouths without bay-like estuaries (Article 9) and river mouths with estuaries that
can be assimilated to bays (Article 10).

™2 Ibid., p. 8, para. 2.10.
731982 Convention, art. 10(1).
"SCM, p. 9, para. 2.11.
5 Ibid., p. 95, para. 6.11

76 Letter from R.H. Kennedy, Hydrographic Department, Admiralty to J.J. d’A Collings, Foreign Office,
Colonial Office (17 August 1959). See SPO, Annex 23. Commander Kennedy’s reference to a closing line as
having a maximum extent of 24 miles, which Suriname invokes to demonstrate that 10 miles was a
“conservative” closing line (SPO, p. 10, para. 2.15, note 43), is entirely inapposite because of his clear statement
that the Corentyne River mouth was not a juridical bay under the 1958 Convention. /bid., Annex 23.

7SCM, p. 8, para. 2.10.
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2.41 The complementarity of Articles 9 and 10 is confirmed by the travaux preparatoires
and by simple logic. The travaux show that for Article 9 the International Law Commission
“intended that the phrase ‘a river flows directly into the sea’ meant that the river flows into
the sea without forming an estuary, and estuaries were assimilated to bays.”” This is the
only logical interpretation. “[E]stuaries — the tidal mouths of rivers where the tide meets the
current of fresh water — are so commonly found that it is argued there are few rivers which do
not have them.”” Thus, if the mere presence of an estuary were sufficient to avoid
application of Article 9, the Article would be reduced to inutility in violation of the principle
of effectiveness (ut res magis valeat quam pereat or effet utile) under Article 31 of the
Vienna Convention. Further, rivers with estuaries that are not juridical bays under Article 10
-- the vast majority of rivers -- would lie outside the scope of both Article 9 and Article 10.
There is no other provision in the Convention that would apply to them. Thus, the
assimilation of estuaries to bays where they meet the requirements of Article 10 is the only
interpretation that renders Article 9 effective, ensures that all rivers are covered by one of the
two Articles, and reconciles the meaning of the French text with the other authentic texts.

G. Partial Maritime Delimitation

2.42  Guyana considers that the jurisdiction of the Tribunal is so clearly established that
there is no need to present additional arguments. Nevertheless, it is worth pointing out that
there is no basis for Suriname’s assertion that a dispute over the starting point for maritime
delimitation ipso facto defeats jurisdiction under the Convention. Suriname itself admits that
beyond 15 nm the location of the starting point does not affect maritime delimitation.*
Accordingly, by Suriname’s own admission, the Tribunal can still interpret and apply Articles
74 and 83 of the Convention, and at the very least, effect a partial delimitation of the
maritime boundary in the EEZ and continental shelf without deciding on any dispute over the
land boundary terminus.

2.43  Figure 4 of Suriname’s Memorandum on Preliminary Objections depicts equidistance
lines drawn from each of Point 61 and a hypothetical “Point X,”®' which is the northernmost
of the potential land boundary termini mentioned by Suriname. According to the
Memorandum on Preliminary Objections, Figure 4 indicates that “[m]ore than 248 km® of
maritime space is enclosed between those two equidistance lines,”82 and that therefore “the
location of the land boundary terminus makes a difference.”® However, Suriname admits
that the 248 km? difference in maritime space results because “those two equidistance lines
do not meet until they have extended approximately 15 nautical miles from the coast.”®*
Figure 4 shows that beyond 15 nm the lines converge into a single line. Suriname thus

"8 Myron H. Nordquist ez al. (eds.), 2 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea 1982: A Commentary
[hereinafter “Nordquist, 2 United Nations Convention”] 111, para. 9.5(b) (1993) (emphasis added).

" Ibid. (emphasis added). See also The Law of the Sea - Baselines: An Examination of the Relevant Provisions
of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea 27, para. 62 (1989) (“there are very few rivers which do
not have estuaries”).

%8P, p. 11, para. 2.20.
8! Ibid., Chapter 2, Figure 4 (following p. 12).
8 Ibid., p. 11, para. 2.20.
8 Ibid., p. 12, para. 2.22.
8 Ibid., p. 11, para. 2.20.
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accepts that, even using the “land boundary terminus” determined by its novel (and
unsupportable) “geometric method,” beyond 15 nm it makes no difference whether the land
boundary terminus is located at Point 61, at “Point X” or at any point in between; the
provisional equidistance line is unaffected by the location of the land boundary terminus.

2.44  On this approach, the Tribunal would not exercise jurisdiction over the 12 nm
territorial sea and the first three nm of the EEZ and continental shelf. But the Tribunal’s
jurisdiction to interpret and apply Articles 73 and 84 for the remaining 185 nm of the EEZ
limit would be manifest. There is no reason in principle or in the practice of international
tribunals to prevent a partial delimitation of the maritime boundary between Guyana and
Suriname in this way.

2.45 Suriname contends that “[a]ny determination of a maritime boundary between States
with adjacent coasts must start from an agreed starting point” and that “[t]he application of
the law of maritime delimitation in every case is dependent upon the location of the land
boundary terminus.”® Yet, Suriname is not able to point to any authority in support of this
proposition. To the contrary, the practise of the International Court of Justice indicates that
an international tribunal may effect a partial maritime delimitation from a point at sea.

2.46 In the Gulf of Maine Case, a Chamber of the Court effected a partial maritime
delimitation between Canada and the United States from a point at sea designated as Point
A.*®  Although Point A was several miles seaward of the Canada-United States land
boundary, the Chamber effected a partial delimitation beyond the area where the islands in
dispute were situated.®” There is no reason in principle why the Tribunal here could not
effect a similar partial delimitation between Guyana and Suriname.

8 Ibid., p. 12, para. 2.21.

% This starting-point reflected the first point of intersection of the two lines representing the limits of the fishing
zones respectively claimed by the Parties, and was stipulated by the Special Agreement referring the dispute to
the Chamber:

The reason for choosing this point of intersection — rather than the international boundary
terminus fixed under the Treaty between the two States dated 24 February 1925, and situate
in the Grand Manan Channel, which might have seemed more logical — is that the seaward
of this last-mentioned point are Machias Seal Island and North Rock, the sovereignty over
which is in dispute, and that the Parties wish to reserve for themselves the possibility of a
direct solution of this dispute.

Delimitation of the Maritime Boundary in the Gulf of Maine Area (Canada/United States of America),
1984 1.C.J. Reports 246, 265-266, para. 20 (12 October 1984).

¥ Ibid., p. 346 (chart depicting the delimitation line drawn by the chamber). It should also be noted that in the
Gulf of Maine Case, the Court did not consider alternate delimitation methods as barring partial maritime
delimitation. Primarily because the point of departure selected by the Parties did not coincide with a point
located on the path of an equidistance line, the Court did not apply “the technical method of equidistance” but
instead adopted another method based on respect for the geographical situation of the two coasts between which
maritime delimitation was to be effected. [Ibid., at pp. 332-333, paras. 212-213. Accordingly, although the
equidistance principle is clearly applicable to the present dispute, the existence of alternate methods of
delimitation is not a bar to the Tribunal’s jurisdiction to effect a partial delimitation.
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II. The Admissibility of Guyana’s Second and Third Submissions

2.47 Suriname does not offer a single judicial authority in support of its contention that
Guyana’s Second and Third Submissions on unlawful threats or use of force and failure to
negotiate in good faith are inadmissible. Suriname’s argument is that “the principles of good
faith and clean hands ... hold that States wishing to bring a claim before an international
tribunal must have acted properly and correctly prior to the events giving rise to the claim.”*®
As discussed in Chapters 8 and 9 of this Reply, Suriname’s accusations about Guyana’s
purported lack of good faith or clean hands are without merit. For present purposes,
however, it is sufficient to point out that these claims go to the merits and could not -- even if
proven -- constitute a bar to the admissibility of Guyana’s Submissions.

2.48 In support of its “inadmissibility” argument, Suriname invokes an article by Sir
Gerald Fitzmaurice that is inapposite to the question of admissibility. The relevant part of the
article discusses the principle ex injuria non oritur jus -- “‘States cannot profit from their own
wrong, or plead their own omisions [sic] or negligences as a ground absolving them from
performances of their international obligations; and similarly that rights and benefits cannot
be derived from wrong-doing.”® The principle is, of course, sound but its application goes to
the merits not to the question of admissibility. At no point did the author suggest otherwise.
As applied here, to prevent Guyana from achieving “profit from [its] own wrong,” Suriname
would have to establish infer alia that Guyana’s conduct has been wrongful. That is plainly a
matter that can only be decided by the Tribunal upon a consideration of the merits. Neither
Fitzmaurice nor any of the cases string-cited by Suriname in a lengthy footnote suggest in
any Wag}(/) that lack of good faith or clean hands may operate as a bar to the admissibility of
claims.

8 SPO, p. 47, para. 7.8.

% Gerald Fitzmaurice, “The General Principles of International Law Considered from the Standpoint of the Rule
of Law,” 92 Recueil des Cours, at 117 (1957). See SPO, Annex 40.

% The cases cited by Suriname at SPO, p. 47, para. 76, note 168 state merely that (in Suriname’s words) “a State
may not profit from wrongdoing in the context of treaty relations.” Again, the principle is not disputed by
Guyana; but whether Guyana has engaged in wrongdoing (which Guyana strongly denies) sufficient to bar it
from obtaining the relief that it seeks in these proceedings is an issue for the merits. Nothing in the cited cases
suggests otherwise. Moreover, Judge Hudson, in his concurring opinion in Netherlands v. Belgium (Diversion
of Water from the Meuse) 1937, P.C.1.J. Series A/B, No. 70, p. 77 emphasised that “The general principle is one
of which an international tribunal should make a very sparing application.”

31



Reply of Guyana

III. Conclusion

2.49 Suriname’s objections to the Tribunal’s jurisdiction to entertain Guyana’s First
Submission on delimitation of the maritime boundary, and to the admissibility of Guyana’s
Second and Third Submissions on illegal use of force and failure to pursue provisional
measures of a practical nature are unfounded. As demonstrated in paragraphs 2.9 through
2.46, the jurisdiction of the Tribunal to delimit the maritime boundary is firmly established:
first and foremost, by the Parties’ longstanding adoption of and agreement on Point 61 as the
land boundary terminus and starting point for maritime delimitation; second, by virtue of
Article 9 of the 1982 Convention which empowers the Tribunal to determine the location of
the Corentyne River mouth, the west bank of which is the undisputed starting point for
maritime delimitation; and third, by the Tribunal’s ability to effect a partial maritime
delimitation covering almost all of the boundary in the continental shelf at the least. With
respect to admissibility, Suriname has failed to offer any legal or factual argument to support
its contention that Guyana’s Second and Third Submissions are not admissible. To the
contrary, Suriname’s complaints about an alleged lack of good faith or clean hands challenge
the merits of Guyana’s Submissions not their admissibility. Accordingly, the law and the
facts fully establish both the jurisdiction of the Tribunal to address Guyana’s Submissions
and their admissibility. There is no reason for the Tribunal to decline to proceed to the merits
of each of these Submissions.
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CHAPTER 3

THE GEOGRAPHICAL CIRCUMSTANCES

3.1 Guyana and Suriname agree that coastal geography is of “fundamental importance” in
the delimitation of their maritime boundary.1 However, they are far apart in how they depict
that geography and the conclusions they draw from it.

3.2 Guyana submits that the most salient feature of the coastal geography of Guyana and
Suriname is that it is unremarkable. There are no islands or low-tide elevations to be taken
into account. Hence, there is nothing about the coastal geography in this case that would
require or warrant an adjustment in Suriname’s favour to the provisional equidistance line
that, both Parties agree, is the necessary starting point for the delimitation of their maritime
boundary.

33 Suriname disagrees, even as it acknowledges that there are no islands or low-tide
elevations affecting the delimitation of the maritime boundary. Despite this admission,
Suriname contends that there are other coastal features that require the Tribunal to abandon
the provisional equidistance line, and with it the entire concept of equidistance, in favour of a
boundary consisting of a straight line emanating from the land boundary terminus at Point 61
and extending seaward on an azimuth of N10E through the territorial sea and the continental
shelf to the 200 nm EEZ limit. Suriname’s approach would grant it more than 19,510 km? of
maritime space to which it would not be entitled by the provisional equidistance line that it
has itself drawn. Suriname’s argument in favour of such a radical result rests entirely on five
(erroneous) propositions about the relevant geography:

. . . . . 2
(1) Guyana’s coastline is “convex,” whilst Suriname’s is “concave;”

(2) Suriname’s coastline is “longer” (indeed, “50 percent longer”) than Guyana’s;’

(3) The maritime area appurtenant to Suriname’s coast is “larger” than that
appurtenant to Guyana’s coast;”

(4) The provisional equidistance line effects an “inequitable” division of the relevant
maritime area that is prejudicial to Suriname;’ and

(5) The alleged “river valley” or “navigation channel” at the mouth of the Corentyne
River which follows an azimuth of N10E should define the maritime boundary
between the two States on the grounds that it produces a more “equitable”
delimitation than either an equidistance line based on modern charts, or the historical
equidistance line claimed by Guyana which follows an azimuth of N34E.°

'SCM, p. 11, para. 2.18.
2 Ibid., p. 94, paras. 6.7-6.8.
3 Ibid., p. 105, para. 6.58.
* Ibid., Chapter 6, Figure 33 (following p. 97).
> Ibid., p. 99, para. 6.27.
® Ibid., pp. 101-102, paras. 6.37-6.40.
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3.4  Guyana strongly disputes each of these propositions. The first four are not only false,
but patently so. And the fifth cannot be supported in law, logic or geography. What
Suriname has done is precisely what the International Court has consistently said it must not:
it has refashioned geography. It has performed plastic surgery on Guyana’s coastline,
reshaping it as “convex” when it is actually concave. The only convexity that affects the
provisional equidistance line is found on Suriname’s coast, not Guyana’s, and it operates to
Suriname’s benefit, not its detriment.

3.5 Suriname has also refashioned the /ength of Guyana’s coastline. It has arbitrarily cut
off a substantial portion of it to make it appear shorter than Suriname’s when, in fact, it is
longer. The Tribunal is sure to notice that not a single map or chart included within or
annexed to the Counter-Memorial depicts the totality of Guyana’s coastline. Instead,
Suriname’s maps cut Guyana in half, truncating it in the west at the Essequibo River.
Suriname asks the Tribunal to ignore the half of Guyana’s territory that lies to the west of that
river.

3.6 Subtlety is not a hallmark of the Counter-Memorial. There is no nuance, just blatant
manipulation of the coastal geography. After making it appear, contrary to reality, that its
coastline is longer, Suriname proceeds to project seaward from that “longer” coastline a
maritime area that appears to be broader and larger than the one projected from Guyana’s
“shorter” coastline.” Unsurprisingly, the provisional equidistance line -- upon whose location
and direction the Parties are in almost complete agreement -- “cuts off” more of Suriname’s
artificially inflated maritime area than Guyana’s just-as-artificially reduced area, creating the
carefully orchestrated illusion of prejudice to Suriname.

3.7 Suriname’s argument is graphically depicted and summarized in Figure 33 of the
Counter-Memorial, where all of these manipulations come together. For ease of reference,
Figure 33 is reproduced herein as Plate R1 (following this page). Although Figure 33 is
more thoroughly deconstructed later in this Chapter,® it is worth calling attention here to
some of its more egregious cartographic distortions:

e Guyana’s relevant coastline is dramatically shortened. It does not even extend as
far west as two of the coastal basepoints that, by Suriname’s admission, control the
provisional equidistance line, let alone as far west as the last point along Guyana’s
coast that “faces” the boundary with Suriname;

e By contrast, Suriname’s coastline extends eastward substantially beyond the last
basepoint that controls the provisional equidistance line. Thus, Suriname has used
contradictory methodologies for depicting the length of its own and Guyana’s
coastlines in order to lengthen the former and shorten the latter;

e The two States’ curving and river-indented coastlines are not only arbitrarily
converted into straight lines, but the irrational effects of this device are
compounded by the manner in which Guyana’s “straight” coastline has been
rendered. Guyana’s “coastline” does not even follow its coast but instead
commences in the east well out to sea, considerably to the north of Point 61, and

7 Ibid., Chapter 6, Figure 33 (following p. 97).
¥ See, e.g., infra Section I1I(B).
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extends to the west only as far as the east bank of the Essequibo River,
substantially to the south and east of Guyana’s last two controlling basepoints.
The obvious purpose is not only to shorten but to flatten out the Guyana coast, so
that the perpendicular lines Suriname draws from the two endpoints of this
artificial coastline enclose a maritime area appurtenant to Guyana that is much
smaller than the one that actually exists;

e By deliberately flattening out Guyana’s coast in precisely the right amount,
Suriname has enabled itself to draw perpendiculars to the endpoints of this make-
believe coastline that “coincidentally” follow azimuths of N34E, which just
happens to be the line that Guyana contends should be the maritime boundary.
From this “coincidence,” Suriname draws the self-serving conclusion that Guyana
itself must have used (and implicitly endorsed) the same flawed methodology of
artificial coastal baselines and perpendiculars to arrive at its N34E claim. Nothing
could be farther from the truth;

e Suriname’s manipulations reach their climax with the construction of a “bisector”
of the “angle” where the artificially-straightened coastlines of Guyana and
Suriname “meet.” It does not require more than a casual glance at Figure 33 to
observe that the two “coastlines” depicted therein do not meet (at Point 61 or
anywhere else). It is elementary that lines that do not intersect cannot form an
angle, let alone one that can be bisected. Hence, Suriname’s depiction of a
“bisector” with an angle of 17° is just as artificial, mathematically and
geographically, as its claim that a boundary line along this angle effects a more
equitable delimitation than an equidistance line.

3.8 Suriname does not stop there, however. To get from N17E to N10E, it concocts a
“river valley” at the bottom of the Corentyne River and invokes this as a “special
circumstance” to justify a boundary line that follows the angle of the thalweg at the river’s
mouth -- for a distance of 200 nm through the entire territorial sea’ and the areas beyond."
The internal contradictions of this argument are glaring. First, the submerged “river valley”
has nothing to do with coastal geography and is not a special circumstance to be taken into
account in maritime delimitation. Suriname itself has said that there is “no reason to ascribe
any role to geological or geophysical factors.”'' Second, Suriname’s insistence that a
“navigation channel” following a 10° angle should be treated as a special circumstance
suffers from the same infirmity (i.e., it is not an element of coastal geography) and belies its
argument that the conduct of the Parties is not a special circumstance to be taken into account
in a maritime boundary delimitation. Moreover, the Counter-Memorial does not challenge
Guyana’s evidence that by the early 1960s it had become clear that there was no usage of a
navigation channel following the 10° line."> Indeed, Annex 11 to the Counter-Memorial, a
1931 communication between Ministers of the Netherlands government, reveals that there

® SCM, pp. 103-104, paras. 6.50-6.53.
1 Ibid., pp. 104-105, paras. 6.54-6.57.
" Ibid., p. 7, para. 2.6.
2 MG, p. 98, para. 8.26.
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never was a 10° navigation channel in the Corentyne River, only the “possibility” that one
might eventually come into existence. '

3.9  The conclusion is clear. Suriname constructed its case backwards. It concluded that
the maritime boundary between the two States should be a N10E line extending for a full 200
nm, and then sought to find a legally and geographically sound argument to support this
claim. The legal flaws in Suriname’s approach are addressed in Chapter 5 of this Reply.
This Chapter focuses on geography and, in particular, exposes the lengths to which Suriname
has gone not only to refashion but to invent an entirely new geography in order to make it
appear that both an equidistance line based on the most modern charts and Guyana’s
historical equidistance line fail to produce an equitable solution in this case. As shown
below, Suriname’s depiction of the relevant geography as well as the conclusions it draws
therefrom have no merit.

I. The Shapes of the Relevant Coastlines

3.10 It is apparent from the Counter-Memorial that Suriname suffers from an identity
crisis: it thinks it is Germany. Or, more to the point, it wants the Tribunal to think it is
Germany. This explains Suriname’s attempt to refashion its own coastal geography to make
it appear as though it, like the Federal Republic of Germany in the North Sea Continental
Shelf Cases, is disadvantaged by a peculiarly concave coastline relative to its neighbours such
that maritime boundaries based on equidistance would cut off its maritime space shortly in
front of its coastline."* To this end, Suriname cites the North Sea Continental Shelf Cases
more than 20 times in its Counter-Memorial.'”> But repeated incantation of the International
Court’s judgment does not produce the desired alchemy. Suriname cannot transform itself
into Germany and its coastline cannot be made to resemble Germany’s. Plate R2 (following
this page) compares the coastline at issue in the North Sea Continental Shelf Cases with the
coastline in these proceedings. It depicts how Germany’s concave coastline in relation to its
two neighbours, Denmark and the Netherlands, resulted in the convergence, shortly in front
of its coastline, of provisional equidistance lines used to delimit its maritime boundaries with
those States. Plate R2 also shows that the same result does not obtain for Suriname when
provisional equidistance lines are used to mark its maritime boundaries with Guyana and
French Guiana. As these two maps clearly demonstrate, in contrast to Germany’s situation,
Suriname’s equidistance lines actually diverge. This would not be possible if Suriname’s
coastline were entirely or deeply concave, as the Counter-Memorial contends. When viewed
side by side with the profound concavity of Germany’s entire coastline, the shallow concavity
of Suriname’s coastline is barely noticeable.

3.11 The dissimilarity between Suriname’s coastline and that of Germany was readily
apparent to the Dutch -- as shown in the documents recently produced to Guyana by Order of
the Tribunal. For example, the Acting Chairman of the Government Council of Suriname
wrote that: “The coastline of Suriname is fairly regular and flows in a direction of
approximately 180° west between the Coppename and the Corantine.”'® Tt is difficult to

13 Letter of the Minister of Defense to the Minister for the Colonies (27 February 1931). See SCM, Vol. I,
Annex 11.

'4SCM, p. 100, para. 6.33.

135 See, e.g., ibid.

' Letter to the Governor of Suriname (13 February 1953), supra Chapter 1, note 9.
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imagine a coastline that is less concave than one extending “in a direction of approximately
180°,” i.e., a relatively straight line. Thus, a Foreign Ministry memorandum dated June 1966
concluded that:

Suriname cannot even appeal to the circumstances, as can Germany, that the
configuration of the coast makes the equidistance line ‘disadvantageous.”"”

A. The Shape of Guyana’s Coastline

3.12 In furtherance of its futile effort to squeeze this case into the mold of the North Sea
Continental Shelf Cases, Suriname also tries to refashion Guyana’s coastline. The Counter-
Memorial repeatedly refers to Guyana’s coastline as ‘“convex,” just as it characterises
Suriname’s own coastline as “concave.”® Its central theme is: “In this case, both the
convexity of Guyana’s coast and the concavity of Suriname’s coast operate together to make
the provisional equidistance line manifestly inequitable to Suriname.”'® The argument is
based on two false premises. First, the relevant coastline of Guyana is concave not convex.
Second, the relevant coastline of Suriname is partially convex, not deeply or entirely concave.

3.13 Plate R3 (following page 38) shows the provisional equidistance line and the coastal
basepoints from which it was derived. On the Guyanese side of the land boundary terminus,
the basepoints extend from Devonshire Castle Flats in the west to Point 61 in the east. (These
are the same outer basepoints attributed to Guyana by Suriname and depicted in Figure 31 of
the Counter-Memorial, which presents Suriname’s almost identical version of the provisional
equidistance line.) This is the relevant portion of Guyana’s coastline because it alone
controls the direction of the provisional equidistance line with Suriname. No other points on
Guyana’s coast influence the location or direction of the equidistance line. Guyana’s
coastline between these outer basepoints is entirely concave. Plate R3 signals in red where
each coastline has a concave trend and in black where it is convex. The Plate shows that both
coastlines are characterised by a general concavity except for an area of convexity along the
Suriname coast east of the Coppename River. Plate R3 also shows with red ar